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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Dr. A. B. C. Orjiako became chairman of the Board of Directors of Neimeth on 
the 1st of February, 2005, having become a member of the board in February, 2004. 
A medical doctor and Fellow, West African College of Surgeons, he has various 
business interests including energy, petroleum exploration, marine services, con-
struction and real estate. 
He is chairman of Seplat, amongst several other high net worth companies and 
organizations where he is and has been chairman and president. 
He is the recipient of several prestigious awards, and is an accomplished agricultural 
and educational philanthropist.

Pharm. Azoji joined Neimeth as Managing Director/CEO in February, 2019. He graduated from 
the Obafemi Awolowo University, Ile-Ife, Osun State, where he obtained his B. Pharm (First 
Class Honours), before going on to obtain an MBA (Marketing), and Advanced Management 
Programme (AMP). He obtained certificates in Pharmaceutical Policy & Pharmacoeconomics 
and went on to get his M.Sc. in Public health from the University of London, International Pro-
grammes. In addition, he has an M.Phil. (Pharmacy Administration) from Obafemi Awolowo, 
Ile-Ife. 
Pharm. Azoji is a Fellow of Pharmaceutical Society of Nigeria (FPSN) and Fellow, West African 
Postgraduate College of Pharmacists (FPCPharm). Prior to joining Neimeth, he worked with 
May & Baker at various levels and was the pioneer MD/CEO of CHAN Medi-Pharm Ltd/
Gte, and led the executive and management teams of Biovaccines Nigeria Ltd., a public – private 
partnership company between the Federal Government of Nigeria and May & Baker Nigeria Plc.

Mrs.Oputa MPSN obtained her Bachelor of Pharmacy Degree from the University of Nigeria 
Nsukka in 1990.  She joined the Company in 1992 as Pharmaceutical Sales Representative and 
has held various positions such as Manager Sales Training and Customer Satisfaction, National 
Demand Manager, Group Product Manager, Marketing Manager, Associate Director/Head of 
Ethical Product Group (EPG), Director of Administration and Corporate Programmes. 
She joined the Board of Directors as an Executive Director of Neimeth International Pharma-
ceuticals Plc on 20th October, 2017.Prior to her appointment, she served as Operational Director 
of Sales/Marketing. 

Mr. Chris Mmeje was appointed as Executive Director – Finance on 25th February, 2008 and 
took on the additional role of acting Managing Director/CEO in October 2017 till January 2019.  
He is an accomplished Accountant and Chartered Banker with over 30 years senior management 
experience in Banking, Manufacturing and Hospitality. He was Managing Director/CEO of 
Island Bank, Sao Tome, Sao Tome and Principe.  Prior to that he was deputy General Manager 
at Hallmark Bank with Credit & Treasury portfolios at various times.

Pharm. Matthew O. Azoji 
Managing Director / CEO

Pharm. Mrs. Roseline. A Oputa
Executive Director Sales and Marketing

Dr. Ambrosie .B. C. Orjiako (OFR)
Chairman

Mr. Christopher U. Mmeje 
Executive Director, Finance (Retired)
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Having led the MBO of Pfizer in 1997, Mazi Sam Ohuabunwa is the founding MD/CEO of 
Neimeth International Pharmaceuticals Plc. He is a graduate of Pharmacy from the University 
of Ife. He had his Postgraduate training in Business and Organizational Management at the 
Columbia University, N.Y., USA and the Lagos Business School, Lagos.
Mazi Ohuabunwa is a fellow of several professional organizations, amongst which are the Phar-
maceutical Society of Nigeria( FPSN), the Nigerian academy of Pharmacy ( FNA.Pharm),the 
West African Postgraduate College of Pharmacists(FPC.Pharm), the Nigerian Institute of Man-
agement(FNIM), the Nigerian Institute of Public Relations( FNIPR), and the Institute of Man-
agement Consultants( FIMC).
He is founder/Chairman, Sam Ohuabunwa Foundation for Economic Empowerment (SOFEE), 
Managing Consultant of Starteam Consult, Past President Nigeria-America Chamber of Com-
merce (NACO), Past President Nigerian Employers Consultative Association (NECA)and Past 
chairman of the Nigeria Economic Summit Group (NESG). He is the Chairman of the African 
Centre for Business development, Strategy and Development as well as several other prestigious 
organizations. He is currently the President, Pharmaceutical Society of Nigeria (PSN) 
His core competencies include Enterprise Development, Governance – Corporate and Insti-
tutional Leadership, Healthcare Facilities Development, Pharmaceutical Manufacturing and 
Marketing and Business re-engineering. He has authored several books and sits on the board of 
several notable companies and organizations.

Engr. Omene was invited to the Board on the 25th February, 2008. A first class Graduate of 
Imperial College of Science and Technology London, he was the pioneer Managing Director of 
NDDC and a retired Deputy Managing Director of Shell Petroleum Development Company.  
He has also been both Chairman and Director of several companies spanning the oil industry, 
security printing, finance/banking and pharmaceutical businesses.  He was appointed the Group 
Managing Director of FJ Energy Limited by the European Economic Development Council in 
April 2007. He is a thorough bred professional with vast board experience.

Prof. Sokomba  was invited to the Board on the 25th February 2008. He is an accomplished 
Pharmacist, Professor of Pharmacology, and former Dean, faculty of Pharmaceutical sciences, 
University of Jos, who has garnered considerable experience in Research / Teaching, Universi-
ty administration, State Health Service Management and NAFDAC where he was a former 
Director.

Mrs. Temitayo O. Nelson
Executive Director, Finance

Mazi Samuel I. Ohuabunwa (OFR)
Non-Executive Director

Engr. Godwin E. Omene
Non-Executive Director

Prof. Elijah. N. Sokomba
Non-Executive Director

Mrs. Nelson joined Neimeth in June, 2019 as Executive Director, Finance. She is a multi-skilled 
and astute professional whose industry experience covers oil and gas, consultancy practice, financial 
service, e-Payment, manufacturing, automobile, technology and hi-tech industries both in Nigeria 
and the United Kingdom. She is an avid finance professional, risk manager and business process re-
engineer who also held human resource management and corporate strategy roles within her career 
span of over two decades. Prior to joining Neimeth, she functioned as Chief Financial Officer and 
Chief Risk Officer at Chams Switch Limited. 

Mrs. Nelson is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Nigeria and a Chartered Banker. 
She is an Associate, Chartered Management Accountant and Chartered Global Management 
Accountant. She earned her Bachelors of Science degree in agricultural extension services from 
University of Ibadan in 1997. She is a registered member of Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA) 
Institute, Information System Audit and Control Association (ISACA). 
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Prof. Iwu was  invited to the Board on the 20th of December, 2011. He trained at the University 
of Bradford where he obtained his masters and PHD in Pharmacy.  He was Professor of Pharma-
cognosy at the University of Nigeria Nsukka.  He is also founder and Chairman of Bioresources 
Development and Conservation Programme (BDCP) an Independent Biosciences Research and 
Development Organization; and International Centre for Ethnomedicine and Drug Development 
(InterCEDD).  He has received many academic and professional honours.  He consults on several 
fronts, and has served on the Boards of several non-profit and charitable foundations. His working 
career spans the realms of academics, research and public service. He has presented several papers, 
published several research articles, and authored many books.

Mr. Osobu was invited to the board on the 20th December, 2011. He is a graduate of Boston 
University, School of Management, USA.  He worked with Nestle New York and Nestle Nigeria.  
He is the founder and CEO of Jott Industries Nig. Ltd.  He is a member of many professional 
and social associations, and sits on the Board of several organizations.

Mrs. Odunewu was appointed to the Board on the 22nd of January, 2018. She obtained her Bach-
elor of Science degree in Chemistry from the University of Manchester Institute of Science & 
Technology, England, and went on to obtain her M.Sc.& DIC – Technology and Development 
from the University of London (Imperial College of Science and Technology). She has bagged 
several professional qualifications, inclusive of Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of 
Nigeria (ICAN) and Member Chartered Institute of Arbitrators (MCIArb). She is affiliated to the 
Chartered Institute of Bankers, Nigeria (CIBN) and the Institute of Directors. She has received 
various professional awards, and has garnered robust professional experience in her over twenty 
years in the financial services sector, spanning various areas of Corporate & Commercial Banking, 
Investment Banking & Corporate Finance, Treasury and Audit. She is currently Group Executive 
– International Banking Group at First Bank Nigeria Plc.

Sir Onyechi was invited to the Board on the 20th December 2011. He is a registered 
Pharmacist and graduate of Pharmacy from the University of Nigeria Nsukka.  
He is founder and Chief Executive Officer of Alpha Pharmacy and Stores.  He is a 
Fellow of several Pharmaceutical societies and member of many associations. 
He is equally a member of the Board of many reputable companies and establishments.

Prof Maurice M. Iwu
Non-Executive Director 

Sir. Ike T. Onyechi
Non-Executive Director

Mr. Thomas T.  Osobu
Non-Executive Director

Mrs. Bashirat O. Odunewu
Independent Non-Executive Director
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  DIRECTORS, PROFESSIONAL ADVISERS ETC

DIRECTORS:		  Dr. A. B. C. Orjiako  		  Chairman
				    Pharm. M. O Azoji		  MD/CEO
				    Pharm.Mrs. R. A Oputa	 Executive
				    Mr. C. U. Mmeje		  Executive (Retired October, 2019)
				    Mrs. T. O. Nelson		  Executive (Appointed May 14, 2019)
				    Mazi S. I. Ohuabunwa       	 Non-Executive
	                    		  Engr. G. E. Omene		  Non-Executive
				    Prof. E. N. Sokomba		  Non-Executive
                                         	 Prof M. M. Iwu                           Non-Executive
                                         	 Sir. I. T. Onyechi                         Non-Executive
                                         	 Mr. T. T.  Osobu                          Non-Executive
		               	 Mrs. B. O. Odunewu	              Independent Non-Executive Director

                                                                      
COMPANY
SECRETARY:			  Mrs. F. I. Onyenekwe

REGISTERED		  16, Doherty Akanni Layout (Billings Way)
OFFICE:			   Oregun Industrial Estate, Oregun.
				    Tel: 08033128663, 08030509676 
				    E-mail: info@neimethplc.com.ng
				    Website: www.neimethplc.com.ng

AUDITORS:			   PKF Professional Services
				    PKF House, 205A Ikorodu Road
                                         	 Obanikoro, Lagos.
                                         	 Tel: +234(0) 9030001351, 9030001352
				    E-mail lagos@pkf-ng.com

REGISTRARS:		  Meristem Registrars and Probate Services Limited
				    213, Herbert Macaulay Way
				    Adekunle – Yaba, Lagos.
				    Telephone Nos: 234 (1) 2809250							     
				    E-mail: info@meristemregistars.com

LEGAL ADVISER/		  Chris O. Omolabi & Associates 
SOLICITOR:			   REALS PLAZA, 1, Junaid Dosunmu Street,
				    Off Hakeem Balogun Street, CBD Alausa,
				    Ikeja, Lagos.
				    E-mail: dec8_2000@yahoo.com
				    Telephone: 08033063829, 07067498945

BANKERS:			   Fidelity Bank Plc
				    Access Bank Plc
				    Guaranty Trust Bank Plc
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  FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
 

 

 

  

  

Major Statement of Comprehensive
Income items:

                                                                       Year			   Year         					   
 		           				    ended			   ended	             
                                                                       30-Sept-19      	 30-Sept-18   		  %			 
						      N’000			   N’000	          		  Change
	

Turnover					     2,371,311		  2,269,004           	 5  

Profit/(Loss) before taxation       		     304,439	     	    166,460         	 83

(Loss)/Profit after taxation     		     220,147 	     	    148,016          	 49

 Share Capital					       949,579     	    	    863,254	    	 10

Shareholders’ funds				      1,072,018	    	    858,832       	     25	

Per Share Data:

Earnings per share (Kobo) (Basic)		  12	          		     8

Dividend per share (Kobo)			   -	           		     -		

Net assets per share (Kobo)			   56                  		    45

Number of employees				   166                		    169

Market price as at 30th September		  0.40	        		   0.66
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  NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT the 61st Annual General Meeting of the members of 
NEIMETH INTERNATIONAL PHARMACEUTICALS PLC. will be held at NECA 
House Plot A2, Hakeem Balogun Street, Alausa, Ikeja, Lagos on Thursday, 5th March, 2020 at 
11.00 am to transact the following businesses:
ORDINARY BUSINESS:

1	 Receive the Report of the Directors, Statement of Financial Position as at September 30th, 
2019 together with the Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended on that 
date and the Reports of the Auditors and Audit Committee thereon.

2	  Re-elect Directors / Ratify appointment of Directors
3	 Approve the remuneration of Directors.
4	 Re-appoint PKF Professional Services as the auditors of the Company and authorize the 

Directors to fix their remunerations for the ensuing financial year.
5	 Elect members of the Audit Committee

SPECIAL BUSINESS:
6.	 To consider and if thought fit, pass the following resolutions as Special Resolutions to 

reduce the share capital of the Company:
(a).	 “That pursuant to Section 106 of CAMA and the Articles of Association of 

the Company, and subject to the confirmation of the court, the share premium 
account of the Company be reduced by N898,164,000 (Eight Hundred and 
Ninety Eight Million, One Hundred and Sixty Four Thousand Naira) from 
N1,020,603,000 (One Billion, Twenty Million, Six Hundred and Three 
Thousand Naira) to N122,439,000 (One Hundred and Twenty-Two Million 
Four Hundred and Thirty-Nine Thousand Naira) and the amount by which 
the share premium account is so reduced be credited to a Capital Restructuring 
Reserve Account.”

(b).	 “That pursuant to the Resolutions in paragraph (a) above, the amount of 
N898,164,000 (Eight Hundred and Ninety Eight Million, One Hundred and 
Sixty Four Thousand Naira) standing to the credit of the Capital Restructuring 
Reserve Account be applied in writing off the accumulated losses of the 
Company.”

(c).	 “That the Solicitors of the Company be directed to seek orders of the Court 
sanctioning the balance sheet restructuring contained in the foregoing 
resolutions.”

7.	 “That the terms of, and transactions contemplated by, the Company’s appointment of 
professional parties in connection with this Resolution, and prior to this Resolution being 
passed:

a.	 be and are hereby ratified and approved; and
b.	 are in accordance with and do not contravene the Company’s Articles of 

Association or other constitutional documents or any law or other obligation 
of the Company, and that the performance of obligations pursuant to the 
appointment of such professional parties, on behalf of the Company, be and are 
hereby ratified and approved.”  

8.	 “The Directors be and are hereby authorised to enter into any agreements, execute any 
other documents and to appoint such further professional parties as the Board may deem 
necessary for or incidental to effecting the foregoing resolutions.”

9.	 The Board and the Company Secretary be and are hereby authorised to do all such acts, 
deeds, matters and things as the Board may deem necessary for or incidental to effecting 
the above resolutions, including without limitation authorising professional advisers to do 
so on their behalf and complying with directives of any regulatory authority.



 
 

 

  

82019 Annual Report & Accounts 
NEIMETH INTERNATIONAL
PHARMACEUTICALS PLC

  NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

NOTES:
1.	 PROXY:
	 A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote is entitled to appoint a proxy 

to attend and vote instead of himself/herself.  A proxy needs not be a member.
	 A form of proxy is enclosed and if it is to be valid for the purpose of the meeting, it 

must be completed and deposited at the Registered Office of the Company at 16, 
Akanni Doherty Layout (Billings Way), Oregun Industrial Estate, Oregun or The 
Registrar, Meristem Registrars and Probate Services Limited, 213 Herbert Macaulay 
Way, Adekunle, Yaba, Lagos not less than 48 hours before the time for holding the 
meeting.

2.	 CLOSURE OF REGISTER AND TRANSFER BOOKS
	 The Register of members and Transfer Books of the Company will be closed on 

Monday, 24th February, 2020 and re-open on Thursday, 27th February, 2020 for the 
purpose of updating the records.

3.	         AUDIT COMMITTEE
	 In accordance with Section 359(5) of the Companies and Allied Matters Act 1990, all 

re-nominations in writing of Members for election to the Audit Committee should 
reach the Company Secretary at least 21 days before the time for holding the Annual 
General Meeting.

4.	 RIGHTS OF SECURITIES’ HOLDERS TO ASK QUESTIONS
	 Securities’ holders have a right to ask questions not only at the meeting but also in 

writing prior to the meeting and the date prior to the meeting by which such questions 
must be submitted to the Issuer.

	 Dated this 20th day of January, 2020

                  F. I. ONYENEKWE (MRS.)
	 Company Secretary
	 FRC/2014/ICAN/00000010082

Registered Office
	 16, Akanni Doherty Layout (Billings Way)
	 Oregun Industrial Estate, Oregun.
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 CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

South Africa, Angola and Nigeria (the three largest economies in the 
region) experienced negative growth, remaining well below historical 
averages and contracting for a fifth consecutive year on per capita basis.
Economic activity in Nigeria was lack-lustre, as both macroeconomic 
policies and business environment remain unconducive to strong 
domestic demand.
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Fellow Shareholders, Distinguished Ladies & Gentlemen, on behalf of the Board of Neimeth 
International Pharmaceuticals Plc., I welcome you to this 61st Annual General Meeting of our 
company. It is my pleasure to present the Annual Report for the 2019 financial year.

Neimeth’s principal thrust is to contribute significantly to the health and wellbeing of our people through 
the manufacturing and marketing of pharmaceuticals, animal health, and general healthcare products that 
are of highest international standards and quality. This has and will always guide our interventions and key 
business decisions in the company.

Operating Environment 
Uncertainty and high volatility characterised the 2019 global economic performance. Trade tensions, 
particularly between the United States of America (USA) and China, undermined growth. Trade tensions 
also intensified between the European Union and the US, as President Donald Trump’s administration 
announced it would impose tariffs on a wide range of EU products. Against the backdrop of these 
uncertainties, the new International Monetary Fund (IMF) Chief Kristalina Georgieva said the global 
economic downturn had turned into a “synchronized slowdown”.
The slow growth affected key sectors of global economy. In particular, it affected public companies and 
listings, with global IPO proceeds falling by about 22% in Q3, according to data from Price Waterhouse 
Coopers (PwC). Consequently, the International Monetary Fund reduced its global economic growth 
forecast to 3.0%, a 30 basis point reduction from its April 2019 outlook, the lowest global economic growth 
since the 2008-2009 financial crisis.

This “synchronized slowdown” was particularly evident in BRICS countries (Brazil, Russia, India, China 
and South Africa); each member experienced and is still facing major economic turbulence. India is 
facing severe economic slowdown. Brazil is growing at only 1.1% with no immediate signs of recovery. 
South Africa growth rate dropped to 0.8%, with soaring youth unemployment and high debts. China is 
experiencing slow growth mostly due to the impact of the trade war with the US. Russia is dealing with 
the US and EU sanctions resulting to low growth rate of 1.1%.
Growth in Sub-Saharan Africa moderated to a slower-than-expected 2.4% in 2019 from a 2.6% growth 
in 2018. Activity was dampened by softening external demand, heightened global policy uncertainty, and 
falling commodity prices. Domestic fragilities in several countries further constrained growth.
South Africa, Angola and Nigeria (the three largest economies in the region) experienced negative growth, 
remaining well below historical averages and contracting for a fifth consecutive year on per capita basis.
In South Africa, growth fell to 0.8%. This weak growth momentum reflected an array of overlapping 
constraints that included:

•	 Persistent policy uncertainty
•	 Constrained fiscal space
•	 Subdued business confidence
•	 Infrastructure bottlenecks – especially in electricity supply
•	 Weakening external demand – particularly from the Euro Zone and China.
•	

Economic activity in Angola contracted by 0.7%, as oil output declined for the fourth consecutive year due 
to lower yields from aging fields and postponed investment in new capacity.

Economic activity in Nigeria was lack-lustre, as both macroeconomic policies and business environment 
remain unconducive to strong domestic demand. Growth remained broadly unchanged at 2%, as the 
agricultural sector continued to underperform due to the lingering insurgency in the North East and 
farmers-herdsmen clashes, while unreliable electricity supply continues to constrain manufacturing 
activities. The non-oil sector grew by 1.9%, less than growth from the previous year, due to the slow growth 
of major sectors like manufacturing as well as decline of other key sectors such as trade and real estate. 
Nonetheless, oil output increased, averaging 1.96 million barrels per day (a marginal increase from the 
2018 daily average   of 1.86 million barrels) but still below the budgeted output of 2.3 million barrels. This 
increase necessitated the 6.5% growth of the sector in Q3. The consistent decline in global demand for 
crude petroleum and the attendant price volatility impacted the economy negatively as the budget deficit 
margin continues to widen, thereby threatening fiscal sustainability. 
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The value of the African pharmaceutical market is growing rapidly, but the continent still imports over 
70% - 90% of the pharmaceutical products it consumes - compared to 5% for China and around 20% for 
India. The continent only has about 375 drug manufacturers, mostly in the North African region, South 
Africa, Nigeria and Kenya. By contrast, China and India are thought to have about 5,000 and 10,000 
manufacturers respectively. By 2020, the market could be worth between $40bn and $60bn, with over-
the-counter, generic and prescription drug demand expected to grow.
Some of these statistics, though negative, throw up notable new opportunities we will push to explore in 
the coming years.

Results
At the end of the financial year, 30th September 2019, total revenue stood at N2,371million, which is a 5% 
growth from the gross sales revenue of N2,269million in 2018. Profit before tax was N304million; when 
adjusted for corporate tax of N84million leaves us with profit after tax of N220million.

Balance Sheet Restructuring
Your company was unable to declare dividend this financial year under review despite the profit posted 
therein because the company wanted to avoid payment of cash dividend out of its capital and also to be 
in tune with regulation.  This necessitated the Board coming up with the proposition to restructure the 
balance sheet of the company.

The restructuring will clear the accumulated losses in the statement of financial position of Neimeth, thus 
present a healthy state and open windows for dividend declaration in subsequent years to shareholders.  
Your support to this end is highly solicited to approve the proposal when called upon.

Awards & Recognition
Neimeth won the sectoral leadership award for the healthcare (pharmaceuticals) sector of the Nigerian 
Stock Exchange (NSE) at the 2019 Pearl Awards night. The award was based on the performance of 
quoted companies on the Nigerian capital market. Neimeth came top ahead of two other nominees – all 
leading pharmaceutical companies quoted on the NSE. 
Also, our own Pharm. Matthew Azoji was named Business Day / Nigerian Stock Exchange top 25 CEOs 
in Nigeria in recognition of the performance of the company’s shares on the Exchange.
The Pearl Award and others before it are testaments that will motivate the company to strive to do better. 
Our strategic plan is to move Neimeth from a good company to a great company. 

The Board 
Since the last Annual General Meeting, there have been some changes in the composition of the Board. 

New Appointments
Pharm. Matthew Azoji fully assumed duties as the new Managing Director/CEO of our Company 
within the year. He joined the Company on February 1st, 2019, a few days before the last AGM. We can 
all affirm that he started on a stellar note; the Company recorded a year-on-year growth in both turnover 
and profit for the first time in years. In less than six months he was able to initiate an agenda for a 5-year 
strategic plan with the full support of the Board and Executive Managment, thereby starting the proccess 
for vigorous expansion of the Company. This shows his capacity to lead the Company to greater heights. 
The Board has strong confidence in his leadership and commitment to creating value for all stakeholders. 
The Board appointed Mrs. Temitayo O. Nelson as the Executive Director, Finance and she assumed 
duty on 3rd June 2019. Prior to joining Neimeth, she functioned as the Chief Financial Officer (CFO) 
and Chief Risk Officer (CRO) at Chams Switch Limited, an e-payment company, leading the entire 
finance and risk management department between 2015 and 2018. She has since supported the company’s 
strategic and operational requirements.

Retirement
The Board approved the retirement of Mr. Christopher U. Mmeje, who was the Executive Director, 
Finance with effect from October, 2019. Mr. Mmeje joined the company and the Board as Finance 
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Director in April 2008 and had a successful career serving as Ag. MD/CEO of the company between 
October 2017 and January 2019. 

On behalf of the Board, every shareholder, the management and staff, I wish him the best in his new 
undertakings and assure him that Neimeth will forever be grateful for the active roles he played in the 
growth of our company.

Outlook of the coming year 
Global growth is expected to edge up to 2.5% this year - a marginal shift from an estimated 2.4% in 2019, 
as trade and investment gradually recover. Emerging markets and developing economies are anticipated 
to see accelerated growth of up to 4.1% from 3.5% the previous year. But both trade and overall economic 
growth prospects remain vulnerable to flare-ups in U.S.-China and US-Euro trade tensions as well as 
rising geopolitical tensions in the country.
In Sub-saharan Africa, growth is projected to firm to 2.9% in 2020 and strengthen to 3.2% in 2021-2022. 
The growth pickup is predicated on improving investor confidence in some large economies, a strengthening 
cyclical recovery among industrial commodity exporters along with a pickup in oil production, and robust 
growth among several exporters of agricultural commodities. 
In Nigeria, growth may increase up to +2.3% and current account deficit expected to persist. Minimum 
wage payment, new VAT rate and border closure will result in higher inflation. Inflation is expected to 
hover between 11.4% and 11.9%. We will anticipate widening forex restrictions plus inadequate local 
supply. Export revenue is expected to decline predicated on falling oil prices.

Strategic Vision for 2020-2024
Irrespective of the seemingly gloomy projected global and local economic outlook, we have articulated an 
audacious strategic plan that will aid the Company navigate this uncertain economic terrain. Our business 
objective for this year is to begin gradual expansion of our company’s operations – manufacturing and 
marketing.

In 2019, we began the articulation of strategies meant to drive this vigorous expansion initiative. As a 
business, we are now better suited to re-enter the lucrative Nigerian Animal Health business, which has 
very robust volume and profit potentials. We expect to regain a controlling market share in few years. In 
addition, we plan to aggressively raise the market share of our flagship antiseptic/disinfectant, NCP to 
become one of the major drivers of the Company’s growth both in the short to long term. We shall soon 
launch a 5-year strategic plan to reposition the company to play a greater role in the wider healthcare 
industry and ensure good returns on investment for shareholders.

Conclusion 
Finally, I want to sincerely thank all our customers, suppliers, investors and shareholders for their support 
and hard work in 2019. Appreciation must also be extended to members of the Board and the Executive 
Management Team; whose tenacity and leadership ensure that we continue to live up to expectations and 
deliver on promises.

I thank each of Neimeth’s employees who contribute their talent, energy and commitment to the 
achievement of our strategic objectives and I look forward to our continued partnership for an exciting 
year ahead.

Thank you

Dr. A. B. C. Orjiako (OFR)
Chairman of the Board
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Profit before tax (PBT) for the year grew by 83% against last year with actual fig-
ures at N304 million and N166 million respectively for the two financial years. 
When adjusted for corporate tax of N84million Profit after tax (PAT) grew by 
49% from N148 million recorded in the 2017/2018 financial year to N220 
million for the year ended September 30th 2019.
The interesting aspect of this year’s result is that your Company as demonstrated 
in figures 1 and 2; after many years has begun to experience year on year growth 
in both turnover and profits.
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Distinguished Shareholders, our esteemed Chairman and Directors, our greatly valued customers and 
staff, eminent guests, gentlemen of the press, ladies and gentlemen, I am honoured to present to you, our 
company’s performance for the 2018/2019 financial year. As this is my first year of stewardship, I would 

like to start by thanking you, esteemed Shareholders, for investing in Neimeth International Pharmaceuticals 
Plc, and more importantly, for the trust and confidence you have placed in the Board and Management of the 
Company.

Operating Environment 
In aggregate terms, the nation’s GDP grew from +2.12% in the second quarter (Q2) of 2019 to 
+2.28% in Q3 2019. The GDP growth rate across industries improved in Q3 2019 but fell short of the 
Economic Recovery and Growth Plan (ERGP) target rate of +4.5% for the year. The implication was 
that the economy had recovered from an earlier recession, but needed a robust growth of above +3% to 
be ahead of the national population growth rate of which hovered between +2.6% to +3.2%. However, 
this was not so. 90.86% of GDP growth by Q2 was contributed by non-oil sector which was led by the 
services sector contributing 54.60% while the oil sector contributed 9.14%. There was a 5.15% year on 
year growth in the contribution of the oil sector to real GDP growth by end of Q2 2019.

Inflation started trending downwards in Q1 and Q2; in Q3, signs of a reversal was noticed as the 
Central Bank of Nigeria’s (CBN’s) restriction on food-related imports started putting pressure on 
local food prices and other manufacturing inputs. In January 2019, inflation stood at +11.37% and 
fell to +11.22% by the end of Q2. By July, the aggregate price level growth had slowed to +11.02%. 
The exchange rate remained relatively stable throughout 2019; with the Inter-bank Foreign Exchange 
Market (IFEM) and Bureaux de Change (BDC) rates averaging N306.95 and N359.94 to USD1.00 
respectively. Access to foreign exchange for businesses including the manufacturing sector was also 
good during the year due to its continued availability which was fostered by the policy of Central Bank 
of Nigeria.

High interest rates, irregular power supply, poor transportation infrastructure, ever changing 
regulatory regime and persistent security challenges in different parts of the country continue to 
be major impediments to the growth and development of the manufacturing sector as well as the 
economy of the nation. These problems contributed significantly to the 0.13% year on year decline in 
the manufacturing sector seen by the end of Q2 2019 and to the growing unemployment rate now 
put at over 23% as well as poverty; thereby weakening the purchasing power of the populace. Weak 
purchasing power in itself has deleterious consequences on the growth and development of business.

Nigeria became one of the 54 countries that have signed the Africa Continental Free Trade Agreement 
(AFCTA) that integrated the country into a wider regional market. The Agreement is the second 
largest in the World in terms of participation covering 54 African countries. The agreement portends 
some advantages and disadvantages for the local economy – access to the larger continental market 
is considered the biggest advantage; while influx of low quality (cheap) products to the country that 
may pose significant challenge to the local manufacturing sector is considered the worst disadvantage. 
In order to appreciate the degree of apprehension among players in the industry, the Pharmaceutical 
Manufacturers Group of the Manufacturers Association of Nigeria (PMGMAN) has requested for 
a N300billion support from the Federal Government of Nigeria to enable its members upgrade their 
manufacturing facilities in order to compete effectively within the larger African market. PMGMAN 
members are worried that without such preparedness, Nigeria will end up a dumping ground for low 
quality products instead of becoming a net exporter to the rest of Africa.

In August, Nigeria unilaterally shut its land borders; a move the government said was to check 
smuggling into and out of the country. It is a laudable objective to stop smuggling because it hurts the 
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economy of the country. It has also generated considerable socio-economic implications for some of 
our neighbouring countries like Benin and Niger; who on their own should actually help Nigeria to 
discourage the illegal activities of smugglers by deliberate policy and not promote it by hinging their 
economic wellbeing on fallouts of same. On the other hand, it has worsened the congestion of Nigerian 
ports which led to major delays in the availability of imported raw materials for manufacturing and 
access of Nigerian export products to the ECOWAS regional market has also been diminished. It 
is hoped that appropriate actions will be taken by relevant Government agencies to ameliorate the 
difficulties faced by businesses as result of this policy while ensuring a net gain for the Nigerian 
economy.

Despite the challenges posed by the business environment, the Board and Management worked 
assiduously to ensure that your Company thrived to deliver more value to you and other stakeholders. 

Healthcare and Pharmaceutical Sector
In 2019, the healthcare sector received only 3.9% from the entire national budget as against the Abuja 
Declaration of 2001, which recommended 15% for effective running of the sector. There was renewed 
hope in January 8 when President Buhari rolled out the Basic Healthcare Provisions Fund (BHCPF). 
The BHCPF is the 1% of federal government’s Consolidated Revenue Fund and contributions from 
donor grants set aside to fund the basic healthcare needs of Nigerians. It is the fundamental funding 
provision under the National Health Act and was appropriated for the first time in the 2018 budget 
since the Act was signed in 2014. President Buhari had said at the launch that the disbursement of the 
fund and implementation of the programme will push the country towards achieving Universal Health 
Coverage (UHC). This development gave the much-needed boost to strengthen Primary Health Care 
in Nigeria. Consequently, the National Primary Health Care Development Agency (NPHCDA) in 
2018 launched the Primary Health Care Under One Roof (PHCUOR) initiative, with the objective 
to integrate basic healthcare services under the umbrella of primary health care.
Hopefully, such commendable initiatives will be nurtured to improve overall funding for the health 
sector, enhance access to health services and others established; all aiming to reduce the current 
unacceptable level of out of pocket payment for health by Nigerians.

Financial Performance 
At the end of the financial year 30th September 2019, the company’s gross revenue stood at N2,371million 
against annual sales of N2,269million for 2018; representing a 5% growth. 



 
 

172019 Annual Report & Accounts 
NEIMETH INTERNATIONAL
PHARMACEUTICALS PLC

 
 

MANAGING DIRECTOR / CEO’S STATEMENT

Profit before tax (PBT) for the year grew by 83% against last year with actual figures at N304 million and N166 
million respectively for the two financial years. When adjusted for corporate tax of N84million Profit after tax 
(PAT) grew by 49% from N148 million recorded in the 2017/2018 financial year to N220 million for the year 
ended September 30th 2019.

The interesting aspect of this year’s result is that your Company as demonstrated in figures 1 and 
2; after many years has begun to experience year on year growth in both turnover and profits. Your 
Company was not only able to achieve significant growth in earnings against the preceding financial 
year; there is also indication that it is moving out of losses into sustainable profitability.
Management has started putting measures in place to significantly reduce the performance volatility 
and sustain steady growth.

We devised a strategy for matching production with sales, such that production drives sales in as much 
as sales drives production. We succeeded in reducing the time the finished goods stay in the warehouse 
before sales, thereby significantly increasing the turnaround time of capital. 
Within the year under consideration, the company’s manufacturing plant produced total output valued 
at N2,035 million (vs. the N1,985 million in FY 2017/2018) representing a 3% growth in value of 
output but in actual volume output there was a growth of 22% over the preceding year.
The indices show that we have sustained the growth in productivity. More than 89% of sales were 
manufactured locally while the balance of less than 11% of turnover was on imported finished products. 
We intend to grow the plant output by a minimum of 70% in 12 months by upgrading the existing 
facility, improvement of production planning and inventory control and by putting more focus on risk 
management of plant equipment performance.
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During the year under review Management paid significant attention to cost management in two major 
ways; namely, reduction of administrative expenses and increased absorption of overhead through enhanced 
production output from the factory. 

The result of that effort was that administrative expenses dropped by N167 million representing 45% reduction 
from the prior year figure of N542 million to N375 million for 2018/2019 financial year. There was a 4% increase 
in marketing and distribution expenses which is desirable to increase the demand of the Company’s products. 
Figure 3 shows the trend of operational expenses for last five years, with sustained decrease in administrative 
expenses and slight increase in marketing and distribution expenses. In the next strategic plan of the Company 
more emphasis will be placed on further dropping of administrative expenses while on the other hand there 
will be more investment in the promotion of products in order to ensure that there is considerable growth in 
turnover and profits in the years to come.
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Secondly overhead absorption which is a major contributor to profit for a manufacturing company grew by 28% 
from N225 million for the previous year to N289 million for the year under review. Figure 4 shows the trend for 
5 years demonstrating the relationship between profit before tax (PBT) and overhead absorption. The 3 prior 
years with the least overhead absorption ended up in losses or little profit while the last 2 years with the highest 
overhead absorption had much higher profit outcomes.

Property at No 1, Henry Carr Street Ikeja
It was reported during the 2018 Annual General Meeting (AGM) that the Board decided to move all the staff 
of the Company in 2017 from its former head office at No. 1 Henry Carr Street, Ikeja to the Manufacturing 
facility in Oregun; principally to reduce overhead cost and to provide a more effective supervision and control 
of both the manufacturing, selling and marketing processes of the Company. These laudable objectives are being 
realized as demonstrated in the performance of the Company in the last two financial years. It is important to 
inform you, our distinguished shareholders that No. 1 Henry Carr Street was leased out to another Company, 
Euro Mega Nigeria Ltd which currently occupies the premises.

Successful Quality Management System (QMS) and Environmental Management System (EMS) 
Recertifications
Auditors of Standards Organization of Nigeria (SON) visited the Company recently for QMS and 
EMS audits. They were recertification audits based on the effective implementation of normative 
clauses of the requirements of ISO 9001:2015 Standard and ISO 14001:2015 standard for QMS and 
EMS respectively. Both the QMS and EMS recertifications were approved by SON. 

Implementation of the Quality Management System (QMS) enables the Company to delight customers, 
increase customer trust and confidence, increase market share and reputation, enhance consistency in 
project success, increase production output, apply best practices and improve business processes. On 
the other hand, effective implementation of EMS helps the Company to minimize health, safety, 
environment incidents and reduces reputation risk. It is also now a fundamental requirement in some 

tenders and processing of some bank loans; improves regulatory performance thereby lowering risk of 
fines for non-compliance with environmental legislation and many others. 
Above all, effective implementation of both QMS and EMS will empower the Company to deliver 
greater value to Shareholders and other stakeholders.

Retirees
Management is delighted to report that all legacy pension and gratuity obligations owed all retirees of 
Neimeth including 3 former Directors which had lingered for many years have now been fully paid.

Outlook for the New Year
In 2020, growth in the Euro zone and US is expected to be weaker. With the January 31st exit of Britain from the 
EU, there is a growing concern of unfavourable trade deal with the EU, which is expected to account for slower 
than projected growth in the Euro zone. Geopolitical tensions will most likely disrupt the global supply chain. 
There will be potential tighter financial conditions with considerable adverse impact on vulnerable economies. 
Oil prices are likely to average $57.9 from an average of $61.8 per barrel in 2019 - oil futures contracts indicate 
that Brent prices will gradually decline to $55 per barrel over the next five years. BRICS member countries will 
nearly account for 50% of world’s economic growth as China is expected to be the main driver of growth in the 
year; though the full impact of the coronavirus epidemic on the Chinese and global economies is yet to be fully 
determined. The virus is already altering supply chains and disrupting companies across the world including our 
own. Economic experts have opined that the current level of disruption is manageable if the epidemic is brought 
under control; otherwise the upsurge in economic damage in China and the rest of the world will be rapid.  



 
 

 

202019 Annual Report & Accounts 
NEIMETH INTERNATIONAL
PHARMACEUTICALS PLC

 

 
 

 

 MANAGING DIRECTOR / CEO’S STATEMENT

Nigeria’s economy will continue its gradual recovery as GDP growth is expected to edge up to +2.3%; though 
still below the potential growth rate of +3.1%. Inflationary pressure will persist due to supply constriction 
resulting from the land borders closure, with direct impact on food prices. Again, CBN’s reaction to continued 
pressure on the FX (higher than average money supply) may keep the core inflation sub-index higher. In all, we 
expect the headline inflation rate to average 11.9%, higher than 11.4% in 2019, while the benchmark interest 
rate (MPR) may remain unchanged. We imagine that the CBN will sustain its recent framework of heterodox 
policy mix until conditions necessitate policy normalization; hence, interest rates in the fixed income market 
may remain low, especially in Q1 of 2020.
The Federal Government presented for the first time the Finance Bill alongside the 2020 Budget, which made 
provisions for the increase of the national Value Added Tax (VAT) to 7.5%. The Bill got a speedy passage in 
the National Assembly and was subsequently signed into law. The new VAT regime took effect from February 
2020. With the expected decline in crude oil prices, government will place more emphasis on alternative sources 
of revenue (taxes) for funding the 2020 budget. This is expected to increase the cost of business and put more 
pressure on the lean pockets of many Nigerians due to rise in prices of goods and services.
Nigeria now ranks 131 in the world on ease of doing business (moved up 15 places from its 2019 
position) and has been tagged as one of the most improved economies in the world. The improvement 
reflects the ongoing reforms by the Federal Government towards improving the business environment.

Strategic Direction for 2020 - 2024
Having fully recovered from the 2017 fire disaster, which is evident in two consecutive years of profitability, 
our strategic focus this year will be to initiate bold and gradual expansion initiative that will see our Company 
playing more in the broader healthcare space. We; the Board and Management are about to complete a 5-year 
strategic plan that will guide our vigorous expansion programme – culminating in the upgrade of the current 
Oregun factory, development of new manufacturing facilities and expansion of our marketing drive to 
Sub-Saharan Africa. The strategic goals of this plan will be fully unveiled shortly.
To achieve the bold objectives being enunciated, we will make sizeable investments in the course of the five-
year period. We might call on you for support (in terms of additional investments) to help us achieve the new 
targets. For my colleagues and I on the Board, we are very optimistic, even as we recognize the ever-increasing 
competition and other notable constraints in the industry. We are confident the set targets will be realized and 
the future of the Company is bright. 

Appreciation/Conclusion
My utmost appreciation goes to our esteemed customers, who are the essence of our corporate existence. To 
you, esteemed Shareholders, I say thank for your unflinching support and faith in our company. I am deeply 
grateful to the Board whose oversight and guidance remain the bedrock of our strength. My heartfelt gratitude 
goes to my colleagues for their commitment to our promise of delivering value to all stakeholders. Above all 
we are most grateful to God for His Grace and Power. We are making noteworthy progress in our journey, but 
like you all know, we still have lots of grounds to cover and we will not rest until we are “the leading innovative 
healthcare provider out of Africa”.

I am confident that we will achieve greater milestones in 2020, as we look forward to delivering superior returns 
to you at all times. 

Thank you.

Pharm. Matthew AZOJI, FPSN, FPCPharm
Managing Director/CEO
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Pharm. Matthew O. Azoji
Managing Director / CEO

Mrs. Temitayo O. Nelson
Executive Director - Finance

Mr. Adekunle A.Adebowale
Plant Buisiness Manager

Pharm. Mrs. Roseline A. Oputa
Executive Director 

Sales  and Marketing

Mrs. Florence I. Onyenekwe
Company Secretary / Chief

Compliance Officer

Mr. Isaac O. Igbanoi
Director  of Administration

Mr. Ijezie M. Emedosi
Head of Legal

EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT TEAM
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The intent of this report is to show how the affairs of Neimeth have been directed and 
controlled by the Board and to outline the corporate governance approach of the Board 
and activities that took place during the 2018/2019 financial year.

The Board is accountable and responsible to security holders for the performance of the Company’s 
business. It defines the Company’s strategic goals and ensures that the Company is well managed 
as it oversees and supports Management in its day to day running of the business. 

The primary responsibility for ensuring good corporate governance in the Company lies with the 
Board, and it is committed to ensuring that the Company meets high standards of performance 
and governance in conducting its business. It is this commitment to high ethical conduct and 
best practices that has necessitated the practice of regularly reviewing our processes in order to 
align them with the applicable laws, rules and regulations in Nigeria, In particular, the Companies 
and Allied Matters Act (CAMA), Nigerian Securities and Exchange Commissions’ Rules and 
Regulations on Code of  Corporate Governance for public companies in Nigeria 2011(SEC 
Code) and the requirements of the 2018 Nigerian Code of Corporate Governance. 

THE BOARD AND ITS COMMITTEES
The Board at all times aspires for excellence in governance standards, and in carrying out its 
responsibilities and duties as provided for in the applicable laws, rules and regulations and is 
supported by the Company Secretariat, headed by the Company Secretary/Chief Compliance 
Officer who advises and gives guidance to the Board. The Board is also supported by members of 
the Executive Management team to get appropriate information concerning the business. To aid 
Board effectiveness and full participation in decision making at Board and Committee meetings, 
Board papers are circulated in advance of such meetings. This also makes for robust discussions 
and well informed decision making. Where necessary, Board members are entitled to obtain 
independent professional advice at the Company’s expense.
In performing its role, the Board is required to work as a team and meet on a regular basis. The 
Board is required to have a minimum of 4 Board meetings every year. The record of meeting 
attendance of the Board and its Committees in the year under review is contained in this report.

BOARD COMPOSITION
The Board in line with relevant provisions is of a sufficient size relative to the scale and nature 
of the Company’s business, and is composed in such a way that ensures diversity of experience 
without compromising independence, compatibility, integrity and availability of members to 
attend meetings. 
The Board is comprised of a mix of Executive and Non-Executive Directors, headed by a Non-
Executive Director who provides leadership as Chairman of the Board. The majority of Board 
members are Non-Executive, one of which is an Independent Director. The Non-Executive 
Directors are independent of Management and exercise their judgment as Directors without any 
constraint.  
All Directors are selected on the basis of certain core competencies, as well as knowledge, experience, 
integrity, diversity, leadership, reputation and ability to understand the company’s business.

BOARD CHANGES 
The Company’s Articles of Association provides that the Company’s Board shall consist of not more 
than thirteen directors.  At the beginning of the 2018/2019 financial year, the Board comprised of 
10 Directors, 8 of which were Non-Executive, with 2 Executive Directors.  However, in the course 
of the year, two new Executive Directors were appointed. Pharm Matthew O. Azoji assumed office 
on the 1st of February 2019 and his appointment was ratified by members at the Annual General 
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Meeting of 6th February 2019, while Mrs Temitayo O. Nelson was equally appointed as Executive 
Director, Finance on the 14th of May, 2019, but assumed office on the 3rd of  June, 2019. Her 
appointment will be ratified at the 2020 Annual General Meeting.

THE ROLE OF THE BOARD
The Board has adopted a Board Charter which sets out the role, responsibilities, structure and 
processes of the Board.
Specific matters reserved for the Board or its committees include:

•	 Composition of the Board and its Committees

•	 Approval of top executive appointments and top management succession plans

•	 Top management terms of employment

•	 The appropriation and distribution of profits

•	 Approval of Strategic plans

•	 Monitoring of information on major risks and exposures and final decisions regarding 
those exposures

•	 Acquisitions, disposals, mergers and joint ventures

•	 Major organizational or corporate changes

•	 Periodic and regular review of actual business performance relative to established objectives.

•	 Oversight of company operations

•	 Remuneration of executive directors 

•	 Induction and training of new directors

SEPARATION OF THE POSITION OF CHAIRMAN AND MANAGING DIRECTOR 
The positions of the Chairman of the Company and the Managing Director/CEO are occupied by 
separate persons. The MD/CEO is responsible for the day to day running of the Company.

RECORD OF DIRECTOR’S ATTENDANCE
In accordance with Section 258(2) of the Companies and Allied Matters Act Cap C20 LFN 2004, 
the record of Directors’ attendance at board meetings during the year is available for inspection at 
the Annual General Meeting.  The meetings of the Board were presided over by the Chairman.  
Written notices of Board meetings were circulated along with relevant Board papers, and minutes 
of meetings were appropriately recorded by the Company Secretariat team.

BOARD MEETINGS 
The Board met at least once every quarter, however, an emergency meeting was scheduled to 
consider matters requiring the attention of the Board prior to the scheduled meeting for the next 
quarter.  Meeting dates and attendance of each Director is reflected below.
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S/No Membership Status

Meetings

26th

Nov.
2018

6th 
Feb.
2019

25th 

Apr. 
2019

14th

May. 
2019

30th 
July
2019

28th 
Oct. 
2019

Total No. 
attended

1 Dr. A.B.C. 
Orjiako

Non-Executive 
Director/ Chairman       6

2. Pharm. M. O. 
Azoji

Executive Director /
MD/CEO    N/A 	     5

2 Mr. C. U. Mmeje Executive Director      
6

3 Mazi S. I. 
Ohuabunwa

Non-Executive 
Director  x    

5

4 Prof. M. M. Iwu Non-Executive 
Director      

6

5 Engr. G. E. 
Omene

Non-Executive 
Director    x  

5

6 Prof. E. N 
Sokomba       

Non-Executive 
Director      

6

7 Mr. T. T. Osobu Non-Executive 
Director      

6

8 Sir I. T. Onyechi Non-Executive 
Director      

6

9 Mrs. R. A. Oputa Executive Director      
6

11. Mrs. B. O 
Odunewu

Independent Non- 
Executive Director   x x  

4

12. Mrs. T. O. 
Nelson Executive Director      N/A    N/A     N/A   N/A  

2

*N/A – Not on the Board at the time of the meeting

COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD
The Board has 5 Standing Committees through which its duties and responsibilities are undertaken, as 
spelt out in the Committee’s Terms of Reference. Committees are free to seek independent professional 
advice at the expense of the Company, subject to the approval of the Board. 

Finance & Budget Committee
At the beginning of the financial year, the Committee consisted of three members. However, the Committee 
was reconstituted in February 2019, at which time the Committee became a four man Committee.  Only 
Non-Executive Directors are members of the Committee. However, its meetings are attended by relevant 
members of the senior management of the Company, inclusive of the Executive Director, Finance and 
MD/CEO
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The resolve of the Committee is to assist the Board in fulfilling the financial oversight 
responsibilities of the Board and in overseeing Management’s administration of Neimeth on the 
under listed matters:

i.	 Financial sustainability; 

ii.	 Feasibility and suitability of strategic financial decisions; 

iii.	 Periodic corporate financial health checks; 

iv.	 Operating, capital budgets and business planning;

v.	 Review of quarterly unaudited financial statements and annual audited financial 
statements reports 

vi.	 Capital expenditure (CAPEX) requirements including freehold/leasehold properties, 
plant and equipment; control of fixed asset and stock; 

vii.	 Corporate financing, treasury management, banking relations, corporate account 
signatories’ designation borrowing and investments requirements; 

viii.	 Contracts, agreements, commercial arrangements and Financial risk management 
oversight.

The Committee met four times during the financial year to discuss issues related to its Terms of 
Reference. Meeting dates and attendance of each Director is reflected below.

S/No. Membership Status

Meetings
14th 
Nov. 
2018

18th 
Apr. 
2019

23rd 
Jul.
2019

17th 
Oct.
2019

Total No. 
Attended

1. Mrs B. O. Odunewu Chairman          
NA

      x       2

2. Engr. G. E. Omene Member       4

3. Prof. E. N Sokomba       Member  N/A    N/A N/A 1

4. Sir. I. T. Onyechi Member N/A            3

5 Mr. T. T. Osobu Member  N/A           3

*N/A – Not a member of the Committee at the time of the meeting.

Establishment/Remuneration Committee
The Committee was reconstituted in February 2019, and during the financial year in view, was 
made up of three members, all of which are Non-Executive Directors.
The Terms of Reference of the Committee include:

-	 Review of overall performance of staff

-	 Review of overall welfare of staff

-	 Review and recommend remuneration and compensation for staff with performance 
target to Management

-	 Review and make recommendations for the drafting of a remuneration policy for 
Directors and Senior Management

-	 Review Human Resource policies and procedures, and make recommendations to the 
Board

-	 Review existing disciplinary actions and procedures
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-	 Review and make recommendations to the Board on the organizational structure of the 
Company.

-	 Ensure a robust succession plan for the Company

-	 Review and make recommendations on the Remuneration Policy for Directors and Senior 
Managers, and when necessary, recommend specific remuneration review/ adjustments 
for Senior Managers and Directors including Non-Executive Directors.

-	 Review adequacy of skills, talents and competencies of staff and make recommendation 
to the Board.

The Committee met three times during the financial year to discuss issues related to its Terms of 
Reference. Meeting dates and attendance of each Director is reflected below

S/No. Membership Status

Meetings 
1st Apr.
 2019

22nd 
Jul. 
2019

21st 
Oct.
 2019

Total No. 
Attended

1 Mazi S.I Ohuabunwa Chairman    3

2 Mr. Thomas T. Osobu Member                    3

3 Engr. G. E. Omene Member 
  3

Innovation/Strategy
Neimeth has as one of its core values – Innovation, as this is crucial to the continuing success of any 
organization. The scope of work of the Innovation and Strategy Committee is thus to advise the 
Board of Directors on Innovations for the continuing growth and profitability of the Company, as 
well as strategies to achieve set objectives. 
The Terms of Reference are broadly divided into:

i.	 Providing direction on the Company’s research and development programme

ii.	 Reviewing the strategic plan of the Company and the effectiveness of its operational plan in 
accomplishing the vision and mission of the Company.

 The Committee is made up of four Non-Executive Directors, and they met four times during the 
2018/2019 financial year. Meeting dates and attendance of each Director is reflected below.

S/No. Membership Status
Meetings
 27th  
Nov. 
2018

3rd Apr. 
2019

24th  Jul. 
2019

30th Oct. 
2019

Total No. 
Attended

1 Prof. M. M. Iwu Chairman     4

2 Mazi S.I Ohuabunwa Member   x  3

3 Mr. T. T. Osobu Member     4

4 Sir I. T Onyechi Member     4

Investments and capital expenditure including borrowing limits and authorization are agreed with 
the Board.

Corporate Governance and Compliance Committee
The Committee was constituted in February 2019, and is made up of four Directors, all of which are 
Non-Executive Directors. The Committee is responsible for monitoring, reviewing and enhancing 
the Corporate Governance practices of the Company.
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The Terms of Reference of the Committee include:

i.	 To address all corporate governance issues to ensure compliance; 

ii.	 To review the corporate governance practices of the Company and ensure that they are up 
to date and in compliance with relevant regulatory and legal provisions and best practices;

iii.	 Establish the criteria for Board and Board Committee memberships, review candidates 
qualifications and any potential conflict of interest, assess the contribution of current 
Directors in connection with their re-nomination and make recommendations to the 
Board;

iv.	 Prepare a job specification for the Chairman’s position, including an assessment of time 
commitment required of the candidate;

v.	 Periodically evaluate the skills, knowledge and experience required on the Board;

vi.	 Make recommendations on experience required by Board Committee members, 
Committee appointments and removal, operating structure, reporting and other 
Committee operational matters;

vii.	 Review and make recommendations to the Board for approval of the company’s 
organizational structure and any proposed amendments;

viii.	 Ensure that the Board conducts a Board evaluation on an annual basis; and

ix.	 To make recommendations to the Board on any changes as necessary to the corporate 
governance practices of the Company. 

 The Committee has met three times since inception. Meeting dates and attendance of each 
member is reflected below.

S/No Membership Status
Meetings
 3rd Apr. 
2019

23rd Jul. 
2019

17th Oct. 
2019

Total No. 
Attended

1 Mr. T. T. Osobu Chairman    3

2 Mrs B.O. Odunewu Member    3

3 Mr. M. M. Iwu Member   
3

4 Prof E. N. Sokomba Member   
3

Risk/Health/Quality Assurance Committee
This Committee was constituted in February 2019, during the course of the 2018/2019 financial 
year and is constituted of six Directors, five Non-Executive Directors and one Executive Director. 
However, its meetings are attended by relevant members of the senior management of the 
Company. The Committee is responsible for assisting in the oversight of the risk profile, risk 
management framework and the risk reward strategy determined by the Board.
The Terms of Reference of the Committee include to:

i.	 Review and approve the Company’s risk management policy, including risk appetite and 
risk strategy;

ii.	 Oversee the establishment of management framework that defines the company’s risk 
policy;
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iii.	 Ensure risk management is integrated into the day-to-day operations of the business and 
provide guidelines and standards for administering the acceptance and on-going management 
of the risk;

iv.	 Undertake at least annually a thorough risk assessment covering all aspects of the Company’s 
business;

v.	 Obtain and review periodical relevant reports to ensure on-going effectiveness of the 
Company’s risk management framework;

vi.	 Ensure the Company’s risk management policies are disclosed in the annual report;

vii.	  Review the adequacy and effectiveness of risk management and controls; 

viii.	 Oversee management processes for the identification of significant risks across the Company 
and the adequacy of prevention, detection and reporting mechanisms;

ix.	 Ensure periodic review of changes in the economic and business environment, including 
emerging trends and other factors relevant to the Company’s risk profile; 

x.	 Review and recommend for the approval of the Board, risk management procedures and 
controls for new products and services; 

xi.	 Review Neimeth’s level of compliance with applicable laws and regulatory requirements 
including those that may impact Neimeth’s risk profile;

xii.	 Receive reports from, review with, and provide feedback to, senior management on the 
categories of risk that Neimeth faces, including  credit, market and operational, the exposures 
in each category, significant concentrations within those risk categories, the metrics used to 
monitor the exposures and management’s views on the acceptable and appropriate levels of 
those risk exposures;

xiii.	 Review Neimeth’s credit, market, liquidity and operational risk management frameworks, 
including significant policies, processes and systems that senior management use to manage 
risk exposures, as well as risk measurement methodologies;

xiv.	 Review procedures and controls for any new business acquired or developed by Neimeth;

xv.	 Receive Information from the Executive Director – Finance, Executive Director –
Manufacturing, Director of Sales & Marketing, Internal Control Unit, Company Secretary 
and others from senior management, Neimeth’s Independent auditors, regulators and external 
consultants as appropriate, regarding matters relating to risk management;

xvi.	 exercise oversight over the process for the identification and assessment of risks across the 
Company, and the adequacy of prevention, detection and reporting mechanisms;

xvii.	 Review the adequacy and frequency of risk reporting to the Board;

xviii.	 Review the companies policies and procedures for detecting fraud and prevention of bribery, 
including review of the Company’s whistleblowing policy and procedures;

xix.	 Evaluate the effectiveness of Neimeth’s policies and systems for identifying and managing 
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environmental, health and safety risks within its operations;

xx.	 Assess the policies and systems within Neimeth for ensuring compliance with environmental, 
health and safety regulatory requirements etc.;

xxi.	 Evaluate the effectiveness of Neimeth’s policies and systems for identifying and managing 
quality assurance risks within its operations;

xxii.	 Assess the policies and systems within Neimeth for ensuring compliance with quality 
ssurance regulatory requirements etc.;

 The Committee has met three times since inception. Meeting dates and attendance of each director 
is reflected below.

S/No. Membership Status

Meetings

 17th  Apr. 
2019

22nd Jul. 
2019

22nd Oct. 
2019

Total No. 
Attended

1 Sir I. T. Onyechi Chairman       3

2 Mrs B.O. Odunewu Member   X   2

3 Mazi S. I. Ohuabunwa Member       3

4 Prof E. N. Sokomba Member   X   2

5 Sir G. E. Omene Member x X x Nil

*N/A – Not a member of the Committee at the time of the meeting.

AMAWBIA PROJECT COMMITTEE
This is an ad-hoc Committee of the Board, set up for the special purpose of advising on and 
overseeing the construction of a new cGMP compliant manufacturing plant for NCP liquid 
antiseptic and oral liquid line in Amawbia, Anambra State.The Committee is made up of Non–
Executive Directors. Meeting dates and attendance of each D irector is reflected below.

S/No. Membership Status

Meetings

23rd 
Nov. 
2018

 1st Jan. 
2019

23rd 
Apr. 
2019

29th  
Jul. 
2019

29th 
Oct. 
2019

Total No. 
Attended

1 Sir I. T Onyechi Chairman           5

2 Mazi S.I Ohuabunwa Member           5

3 Mr. T. T. Osobu Member         x       x 3

4 Mrs. B. O. Odunewu Member           5

*N/A – Not a member of the Committee at the time of the meeting.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The statutory Audit Committee comprises six members, three shareholders’ representatives and three 
Board representatives.  In accordance with section 359(4) of the Companies and Allied Matters Act 
CAP C20 LFN 2004, the following members and Directors were elected and nominated pursuant 
to Section 359(5) of the said Act and will serve on the Committee up to the conclusion of year 2019 
Annual General Meeting. 
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Members of the Committee with meetings attended

S/
No Membership Status

Meetings

23rd

Jan.
2019

24th 
Apr. 

2019

26th  
July

2019

4th 

Sept.
2019

23rd 
Oct. 

2019

Total 
Number

Attended

1 Dr. M. O Ojinka Chairman/S.Rep           5
2 Aare K. Danjuma S/holders Rep.                5
3 Jinadu Mustapha I. S/holders Rep.           5
4 Engr. G. E. Omene Director           5
5 Sir T. I. Onyechi Director           5
6 Thomas T. Osobu Director           5

The functions of the committee are provided in section 359(6) of the Companies and Allied Matters 
Act Cap C20 LFN 2004 (CAMA)

ROTATION OF DIRECTORS
In compliance with S. 259 of CAMA Cap C. 20 LFN 2004 on rotation of Directors, the Directors 
retiring from office by rotation, by virtue of the fact that they have been longest in office since their 
last election, and who will be eligible to seek re-election at the next AGM are:

1.	 Prof E. N. Sokomba

2.	 Mrs. R. A. Oputa

3.	 Mrs. B. O. Odunewu

DISCLOSURE OF AGE
Engineer Godwin Eyarubere Omene, in compliance with S.252(1) of CAMA C.20 LFN 2004, 
hereby discloses to the members of the Company that he is over 70 years of age.

Similarly, Prof. Elijah Ndajiya Sokomba hereby discloses that he is over 70 years of age.

Mr. Thomas Tunbosun Osobu also discloses that he is over 70 years of age.

WINNER OF THE SECTORAL LEADERSHIP AWARD AT  THE 2019 PEARL 
AWARDS, ENDORSED BY THE SECURITIES & EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Neimeth emerged as winner of the prestigious Sectoral Leadership Award – Healthcare 
(Pharmaceuticals) in the 2019 PEARL AWARDS held on the 24th November, 2019, for companies 
quoted on the Stock Exchange.

The basis of the award was the recognition of Neimeth’s outstanding operational and stock market 
performance in the 2018 year of assessment. The results, based on verifiable facts and figures are 
acquired from the financial reports of companies as presented at AGMs, NSE daily listing and the 
NSE 52-week trading reports.

The Performance Earnings And Returns Leadership (PEARL) Awards was instituted in 1995, as 
a private sector, not-for-profit, non-partisan and Non-Governmental Organization initiative to 
reward companies quoted on the Nigerian Stock Exchange  for outstanding operational and stock 
performance; thereby enhancing the vibrancy, growth and development of the capital market. The 
cardinal objective of the Awards Project is to be a reference point for investors and all stakeholders 
of the Nigerian Capital Market.
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TOP 25 CEOs AWARDS ORGANIZED BY BUSINESSDAY 
AND THE NIGERIAN STOCK EXCHANGE 
The Managing Director/CEO of Neimeth International Pharmaceuticals Plc., Pharm. Matthew 
Azoji was selected for recognition at the Top 25 CEOs Awards jointly organized by Business 
Day and the Nigerian Stock Exchange in May, 2019, in recognition of stellar performance on the 
Nigerian Stock Exchange.
The Top 25 CEOs Awards is a benchmark event for the recognition of Chief Executive Officers 
of public companies who have created sustainable market-beating value for their shareholders, 
driven by strong fundamentals and disciplined execution of strategy. It also presents a peak 
opportunity to promote and acknowledge the excellence of these entrepreneurial leaders, who 
typify the best of business values in Nigeria.
Winners of the award are adjudged according to their consistent commitment to corporate 
governance and strict compliance with government regulations in their operations.

BOARD APPOINTMENT PROCESS
The Board’s appointment process is as follows:
i.	 Analysis of the requirements of the position in the case of an Executive Director
ii.	 Receipt of recommendations/nominations/applications by the Nomination Committee
iii.	 Background check along with the screening of nominee’s CV to ensure appropriate 	
	 balance of skills, experience and knowledge
iv.	 Evaluation of the candidates to be carried out through oral interview or other means
	 (This evaluation and background check  as mentioned above may be conducted by 
	 external consultants if considered appropriate)
v.	 Shortlisted candidates to be reviewed by the Committee on a one-on-one basis
vi.	 Recommendations of the Committee shall be made to the Board through the Chairman
vii.	 A chat shall be conducted with the nominee(s) by the Chairman and other members of 	
	 the Board if need be
viii.	 Appointment of successful candidates shall be ratified at the meeting of the shareholders.
ix.	 In the case of an Independent Director, the Board shall satisfy itself that the person 	
	 proposed to be appointed fulfills the specified regulatory conditions and is independent 	
	 of the Management.
x.	 Where there is disagreement among the interview panelists as to the success of a 
	 candidate, the majority view shall prevail. 
xi.	 The appointment of a Director shall be formalized through a Letter of appointment.

UNCLAIMED DIVIDEND
Total unclaimed dividend fund in the company stood at approximately N14,675,009.72 as at 
30th September, 2019.
Shareholders are strongly advised to contact the Company Registrar or the Company Secretary 
to retrieve their unclaimed dividends.

RELATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS
The Company remained committed to the sustenance of good relationship with its shareholders 
and continued to maintain good level of communication, such as the Annual General Meeting 
organized to interact with them. Regular disclosures were made through the Company’s website.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE CODE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The Company is committed to absolute compliance with the SEC Code of Corporate Governance 
(the Code) and under the leadership of the Board; it ensures that the Company’s business and 
practices are guided by the Code, all relevant rules and regulations and best practices. However, 
compliance is a continuum and by virtue of the annual SEC Score Card (Corporate Governance 
report for public companies) submitted to the Securities and Exchange Commission, the progress 
of the Company in complying with the provisions of the Code is monitored. 
Neimeth has made a lot of progress in complying with Corporate Governance principles, thus its 
certification as a Corporate Governance Rated Company (CGRS). 
We remain committed to improving on our compliance with the Code, until we reach a position of 
total compliance. 

NEIMETH’S SECURITIES TRADING POLICY
•	 In accordance with Rule 14.1 of the Amendments to the Nigerian Stock Exchange Listing 

Rules, every Issuer shall establish a Securities Trading Policy which shall apply to all 
employees and directors of the company, and shall be circulated to all employees that may at 
any time possess any inside or material information about the Issuer. 

•	 It is pursuant to the above mentioned NSE Rule that Neimeth International Pharmaceuticals 
Plc.’s Securities Trading Policy is formulated.	

•	 This Policy is designed to ensure compliance with NSE’s Rule that no director, person 
discharging managerial responsibility or adviser of the Company and persons closely 
connected shall trade in the Issuer’s securities during sensitive, restricted or closed periods.

•	 Having made specific enquiry of all our directors, they have complied with the stipulated 
standards regarding securities transactions by directors, as enshrined in the policy.

•	 This policy is available on the company’s website (www.neimethplc.com.ng).

NEIMETH’S COMPLAINT MANAGEMENT POLICY
•	 In accordance with the Securities and Exchange Commission Rules (SEC Rules) Relating to 

the Companies Management Framework of the Nigerian Capital Market (the Framework) 
of 16th February, 2015 and the Nigerian Stock Exchange Directive (NSE Directive) (NSE/
LARD/LRD/CIR6/15/04/22), every listed company is required to establish a clearly 
defined Complaints Management Policy to handle and resolve complaints within the scope 
of the Framework.

•	 It is pursuant to the above mentioned SEC Rule and NSE Directive that Neimeth 
International Pharmaceuticals Plc.	 has formulated a Complaint’s Management Policy.

•	 This Policy is designed to effectively and efficiently handle and resolve complaints in a fair, 
impartial, timely and objective manner.

•	 All Complaints shall be addressed to:  
The Company Secretary

	  Neimeth International Pharmaceuticals Plc.
   	  16, Akanni Doherty Layout (Billings Way),

 Oregun Industrial Estate.
 Oregun.
P.M.B. 21111 Ikeja, Lagos State.
 Telephone: +234 815 842 2346, 08033128663
 E-mail:         info@neimethplc.com.ng or  

                                 florence.onyenekwe@neimethplc.com.ng

This Policy is available on the Company’s website (www.neimethplc.com.ng).
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Neimeth International Pharmaceuticals Plc. (“Neimeth or “the Company” formerly known as Pfizer 
Products Plc. was established in1957. It is the resultant Company of the successful Management-
Buy-Out of the 60% equity holding of Pfizer Inc. New York, USA. This Management-Buy-Out 

took place in May1997 when Pfizer Inc. in pursuit of its global re-positioning strategy, divested its equity 
in Pfizer Products Plc. in favour of the existing Management.

Prior to the name change, Pfizer had operated in Nigeria for 40years, manufacturing, marketing, and 
distributing Pfizer brands of pharmaceutical and veterinary products in tablets, capsules, ointment/cream, 
powder, injectables and liquid forms. During the 40 year period (1957-1997), the company established 
the first Pharmaceutical Manufacturing plant in Nigeria at Aba, which was destroyed during the Nigerian 
civil war. It then set up and opened the most modern pharmaceutical plant in the West African sub-
region in 1976 at Oregun, Lagos. These represent great milestones for a company that started as a trading 
venture in1957 at a location in Ebute-Metta, Lagos.
Neimeth has the vision to be the leading innovative healthcare provider out of Africa

MARKETS, PRODUCTS & DISTRIBUTION
THE NIGERIAN PHARMACEUTICAL MARKET    

Pharmaceutical companies in Nigeria are up against several constraints, including challenges posed by 
infrastructural decay, government policies, sub optimal marketing, low capacity utilization, spiraling cost 
of business as a result of the high cost of inputs, low involvement in effective research and development 
etc. However, these pharmaceutical companies remain vibrant, with over 115 registered pharmaceutical 
manufacturers which in addition to providing dependable high-quality pharmaceutical products 
to medical professionals and patients in various communities in Nigeria and West Africa, have also 
contributed immensely to the economic growth of the nation.
 
Prior to the inception of drug manufacturing in the 1960s, pharmaceutical companies in Nigeria were 
dependent on large-scale importation of pharmaceuticals. Presently, some of these companies’ manufacture 
various pharmaceutical dosage forms that cut across various therapeutic classes such as analgesics, anti-
malarials, antibiotics, anti-retrovirals, antacids, haematinics, vitamins and minerals, cough and cold 
remedies, anti-diarrhoea, antihistamines anti-ulcer, antihypertensive, antidiabetics etc.   These products 
are widely and readily available in registered hospitals, pharmacies and distribution outlets nationwide.
As Africa’s largest economy, most highly populated country, and biggest consumer market, Nigeria has 
been hailed as the next frontier for pharma.

SALES DEPARTMENT
Neimeth sales and marketing business covers both the human pharmaceutical market and the veterinary 
market. In order for Neimeth to remain competitive in a very dynamic market such as in Nigeria, it has 
set operational and strategic business growth objectives. A new business structure came into existence 
in October 2019 for the purpose of expansion, focus and exploration of new business opportunities to 
withstand the rapid growing competition in the pharmaceutical market space. The new business structure 
is  divided into four(4) basic Business Units which are (1) Ethical Business (2) Health Care Business 
(3) Personal Care  Business and (4)Veterinary Business , structured into territorial markets for ease 
of management and control.  Each of these Business Units is controlled independently by a Head of 
Business who is expected to run an individual entity charged with the responsibility of  profit for the 
business.
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The various Business Units are expected to target specific business areas which are:

(i) Ethical Business Unit: This Business Unit is expected to focus on the Prescription Only Medicines 
(POM) segment of the market and achieve high presence, usage and preference of Neimeth brands in 
hospitals.  Products in this business segment require prescription from a healthcare practitioner for the 
final user to gain access to medication. This therefore requires adequate demand generation through 
various marketing activities engaged in by the field force in this business unit directed towards health care 
practitioners. Products in this category cannot be freely advertised in the open and lay media but only in 
selected medical and pharmaceutical journals/ magazines. Because of its limited advertising, focus is on one 
on one contact with the target audience who are usually the brand influencers for prescribing to the final 
users. These ethical brands include our flagship home grown product CIKLAVIT for the management 
of sickle cell disorder. In addition, products such as Normoretic, Amlovar, Norduet, Flucosyd, Flexodene, 
Tiocosid and new branded generics are part of the portfolio. 

(ii.) Healthcare Business Unit:  This Business Unit is focused on the pharmaceutical market segment 
involving pharmaceutical products that can be sold off the shelf without prescription. These products 
are referred to as Over the Counter (OTC) Medicines. Products in this business category can be easily 
advertised in open media such as television, radio, billboards etc. while field force marketing activities 
for this business category can also be done through professional medium form of demand generation 
such as clinical meetings and doctor and pharmacy calls. Due to the expanded advertising methods, 
the Healthcare Business Unit targets prescribers and brand influencers as well as the final consumers. 
Products sold under this business group include high volume products like Pyrantrin tablets, Pyrantrin 
suspension, Obron– 6, Homtamin G capsules, Nimartem tablets and Antimal tablets.

(iii) Personal Care Business Unit: This Business Unit is focused on the pharmaceutical market with 
products that have expanded use beyond pharmaceuticals, such as personal hygiene and health promotion. 
Most products in this business segment can be sold in pharmacies, supermarkets and other small stores. 
This gives opportunity for products to penetrate deeply in nook and crannies of the market environment.  
Products in this Business Unit comprises high volume drivers like NCP, our unique and user friendly 
brand of Antiseptic and Disinfectant with diverse usage profile. The Personal Care Unit represents a 
growth arm for the company in consideration of our quest for expansion of our products portfolio and 
reintroduction of some other products. Other well-known brands like Pancemol tablets our very effective 
brand of Paracetamol, Pancemol Syrup, Sportgesic Ointment, Gynotiocosid Vaginal Tablets and Tiocosid 
Cream, are potential volume drivers in this Business Unit. 

(iv) Veterinary Business Unit: Neimeth in 1997 re-entered the lucrative Nigerian Animal Health 
Business, which has very robust volume and profit potentials. We introduced our own brand of poultry 
and large animal range of anthelmintic, as well as production enhancing medicaments. We also entered 
into strategic alliances in key disease areas that show great business potentials. We now expect to regain 
a controlling market share in few years. Products in this business segment include Maluminth Wormer, 
Piperazine Wormer, Neimycin Chick Formula, Neimycin Egg Formula, Neimycin Neo Soluble Powder, 
Neimycin Soluble Powder and Neivastress.

MARKETING DEPARTMENT
In order to re-establish the demand generation for all Business Units, the need for marketing support 
cannot be over emphasized. The need to move from a sales led organization to a marketing led organization 
was recognized 

as a key driver to sustaining the new business model. Marketing-led companies focus on the key initiatives 
that will sustain growth in the new, buyer-driven environment. Two obvious hurdles that many companies 
experience during the shift to a marketing-led approach are cultural and financial commitments.
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Cultural: Shifting to a marketing-led organization means that everyone not only marketing is to become 
the “voice of the customer.” That means every employee now works with the company’s and the customers’ 
best interests in mind.

Financial: This goes beyond internal branding. There must be commitment to investing in the company 
and its infrastructure in an effort to better serve its customers and create a world-class customer experience 
and reputation. The Marketing Department aims to align its objectives with the company objectives which 
include, increased revenue generation, improved ROI at low cost, Develop company’s own brand, Increase 
company overall product portfolio and deepen market penetration by opening up new channels. In so 
doing, there are two required strategic elements, which are Corporate Marketing and Product Branding.

Corporate Marketing is the aspect that deals with the company’s brand identity as a whole. Corporate 
marketing brings about strong corporate brand equity and good will, which has a positive impact in the 
marketing of the company’s product lines.

Product branding /Marketing is based on individual products marketing for increased demand generation 
across product distribution channels. Various aspects of the products are considered for proper positioning, 
demand generation, advertisement and promotions. Certain major tools shall be deployed in meeting up 
with the set objectives which are, marketing research tools, demand creation, product development tool, 
advertising & promotional campaign tools and business development tools.

In line with the new focus, a marketing team was set up and is headed by a Head of Marketing. The 
Marketing Department for the purpose of focus and in order to deploy the tools earlier mentioned has 
been further divided into four product portfolios that are managed by Product Managers. The product 
portfolios were designed to bring about specialization in the different product knowledge areas based 
on therapeutic segments directed towards specific target audience. The four product portfolios are (1) 
Internal Medicine Product Portfolio (2) Tropical Medicine Product Portfolio (3) Maternal & Child 
Health Product portfolio and (4) Healthy Living Product portfolio. 

a)	 INTERNAL MEDICINE (INTERMED): 
	 These are products that deal with diseases of the internal organs, Cardiovascular system and 	
	 chronic illnesses .Products such as Anti hypertensives, blood disorders and others.
	
b)	 TROPICAL MEDICINES (TROMED): 
	 These are products that take care of diseases common in the tropics that are recur from time to 	
	 time. Products in this portfolio include Anti-malarial, Antibiotics and Antifungals.

c)	 MATERNAL & CHILD (MATCH): 
	 These are products targeted at mother and child health. These products affect pregnancy, 		
	 lactation and children’s health. Products in this portfolio include Multivitamins for pregnant and 	
	 lactating mothers, Intermittent Preventive Therapy (IPT) for malaria in pregnancy,		
	 Antimalarials and Deworming agents.

d)	 HEALTHY LIVING (HEALTH): 
	 These are products used on a regular basis for quick remedy, first aid and health promotions. 	
	 Products in this portfolio include products for stress management, pain, multivitamins and 	
	 antiseptics/disinfectants 

All Neimeth Pharmaceutical Product Portfolios fall into one of these specialty segments. Products are 
managed to deliver revenue and profits and marketing materials prepared to address these various areas 
of product segmentation. This also gives opportunity for products to receive adequate attention for the 
purpose of business growth through product development, product portfolio expansion and others. 
Product Managers are responsible for providing knowledge based support to sales teams across the 



 
 

372019 Annual Report & Accounts 
NEIMETH INTERNATIONAL
PHARMACEUTICALS PLC

THE COMPANY

Business Units by providing strategic directions for product demand generation and sales. Some of these 
include, developing brand plans, developing content for clinical meetings, marketing materials and other 
related knowledge based supports to aid sales.

ETHICAL BUSINESS UNIT PRODUCTS

S/N PRODUCTS
NAFDAC 
NO ACTIVE INGREDIENTS

THERAPEUTIC 
SEGMENT/ 
INDICATION

PRODUCT 
PORTFOLIO

1 Amlovar  Tablet 10mg A4-0333 Amlodipine 10mg
Anti-
Hypertensive INTERMED

2 Amlovar Tablet 5mg A4-0332 Amlodipine 5mg
Anti-
Hypertensive INTERMED

3 Ciklavit  200ml 04-2506L Cajanus Cajan
Nutritional 
Supplement INTERMED

4 Co-Amoxiclav 1g Tabs B4-2496 Amoxicillin + Clavulanic Acid Antibiotics TROMED
5 Co-Amoxiclav 228.5mg Susp B4-2498 Amoxicillin + Clavulanic Acid Antibiotics TROMED
6 Co-Amoxiclav 625mg Tabs B4-2497 Amoxicillin + Clavulanic Acid Antibiotics TROMED
7 Flexodene 20mg Capsules O4-8470 Piroxicam 20mg Pain relief INTERMED
8 Flucosyd Capsules 50mg X 3 A4-0333 Fluconazole 50mg Candidiasis TROMED

9 Miniplus Tablets X 60 O4-7955 Prazosin/Hydrochorothiazide
Anti-
hypertensive INTERMED

10 Necotrim Suspension X 60ml O4-2377 Co-trimoxazole 240mg/5ml Anti-bacterial TROMED
11 Necotrim tablets O4-2117 Co-trimoxazole 480mg Anti-bacterial TROMED

12 Norduet 5/12.5mg Tabs B4- 1744
 Amlodipine Besylate 5mg/ 
Hydrochlorothiazide

Anti-
hypertensive INTERMED

13 Norduet 7.5/12.5mg B4- 1745
 Amlodipine Besylate 5mg/ 
Hydrochlorothiazide

Anti-
hypertensive INTERMED

14 Normoretic Tablets O4-3817
Amiloride 
Hydrochlorothiazide

Anti-
Hypertensive INTERMED

15 Osinex Syrup X 100ml O4-0085

Chloropheneramine, 
Phenlephrine, 
Dextrometorphan, 
Glycerlguiacolether Anti-tussive TROMED

16 Tronid Suspension X 60ml O4-7729 Metronidazole  200mg/5ml Ant-protozoa TROMED

17 Tronid tablet O4-7784 Metronidazole  200mg Ant-protozoa TROMED

18 Unaben Suspension 10ml O4-9938 Albendazole 200mg Anthelmintics TROMED

HEALTHCARE BUSSINESS UNIT PRODUCT

S/N PRODUCTS NAFDAC NO ACTIVE INGREDIENTS

THERAPEUTIC 
SEGMENT/ 
INDICATION

PRODUCT 
PORTFOLIO

1 Obron 6 Caps O4-1748
 Multivitamins/Iron/ 
Minerals

Pregnancy and 
Lactation MATCH

2
Pyrantrin Suspension 
250mg/ 15ml O4-7510 Pyrantel Pamoate Worm infestation MATCH

3
Pyrantrin Tablets 
125mg X 6 X 25 O4-7511 Pyrantel Pamoate Worm infestation MATCH
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4 Antimal  Tablets O4-1951
Sulphadoxine/ 
Pyrimethamine

Malaria 
Intermittent 
Preventive Therapy 
in Pregnancy MATCH

5
Nimartem Tablets X 
24 A4-3524

Arthermether 
Lumefantrine 
20/120mg Anti-malaria TROMED

6 Nimartem Qs Tablets B4-3215

Arthermether 
Lumefantrine 
80/480mg Anti-malaria TROMED

7 Hemafolin Caps A4-2022 Multivitamin /Iron Hematinic HEALTH

8 Hemafolin Tonic A4-4548 Multivitamin /Iron Hematinic HEALTH

9
Homtamin Gen 
Capsules O4-2555

Multivitamin Ginseng 
extract/alover extract

Multivitamin/Stress 
Management HEALTH

10
Neimelyn Cough 
Syrup A4-0503 Diphenhydramine Anti tussive MATCH

PERSONAL CARE BUSINESS UNIT PRODUCTS

S/N PRODUCTS NAFDAC NO ACTIVE INGREDIENTS

THERAPEUTIC 
SEGMENT/ 
INDICATION

PRODUCT 
PORTFOLIO

1
N C P Liquid 
25ml,50ml,100ml,200ml O4-8475 Chlorinated Phenols

Antiseptic 
Disinfectant HEALTH

2 Pancemol Syrup O4-2115 Paracetamol 125mg /5ml Pain and Fever HEALTH
3 Pancemol Tablets O4-2116 Paracetamol 500mg Pain and Fever HEALTH

4
Gyno-Tiocosid Vaginal 
Tabs X 3 A4-0705 Tioconazole 100mg Vaginal Candidiasis MATCH

5
Tiocosid 1% Dermal 
Cream 20g 04-7516  Tioconazole Antifungal MATCH

VETERINARY BUSINESS UNIT PRODUCTS
S/N PRODUCTS NAFDAC 

NO.
ACTIVE 

INGREDIENT
STRENGTH INDICATION ANIMAL 

SPECIE
1. Maluminths Tablets 04-4870 Morantel 

Citrate
300mg Ascaris/Nodular worms in 

sheep, goat and cattle
Sheep, goat 
and cattle

2. Neimycin-Sol Powder

Powder (50g

04-4874 Oxytetracyline 55g/kg Blue comb, CRD, 
Infectious synovitis, 
infectious sinusitis, scours, 
colibacillosis, corysa, fowl 
cholera

Birds, Calves 
and Swine

3. Neimycin-Neo Sol 
Powder (50g)

04-4872 Oxytetracyline 
+ Neomycin 
Sulphate

55g/kg

38.5g/kg

CRD, infectious synovitis, 
blue comb, early chick 
mortality, bacterial entiritis

Birds, Calves 
and Swine

4. Neimycin – Egg 
Formula 

Powder (50g)

04-4875 Oxytetracyline 
+ Essential 
Vitamins

55g/kg Drop in egg production Laying birds

5. Neimycin – Chick 
Formula Powder (50g)

04-4873 Oxytetracycline 
+ Essential 
Vitamins

55g/kg (i)	 Reduces early chick 
mortality

(ii)	  Brooding of chicks

Birds (chicks)
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6. Neiva Stress Powder 
(50g)

04-4876 Essential 
Vitamins

(i)	 Prevents/cures 
deficiency diseases

(ii)	 Maintain weight gain
(iii)	 Stimulates and 

maintain egg 
production

Birds, Rabbits 
and Swine

7. Piperazine Suspension 
(900ml)

04-4871 Piperazine 
Citrate

17% w/v Ascaris/ Nodular worms in 
swine and birds

Swine and 
birds.

KEY ACCOUNT SEGMENTS: The Key Account Business in Neimeth is structured under two key 
segments: 

1.	 Retail / Pharmacy Chain stores and Export

2.	 Government and Parastatals

In the Government segment, healthcare solution programmes like Helminthiasis Elimination Lower Cost 
Partnership (HELP) and Fight the Good Fight Against Hypertension (FITGAH) are well entrenched.

Business in the Government segment is executed in partnership with Government at all levels (Federal, 
State and Local), Non-Governmental Organization (NGOs), Professional bodies and Advocacy Groups 
on shared  / lower cost basis.

ECOWAS MARKET
Neimeth is firmly on ground in the Anglophone West African Country of Ghana with renewed focus to 
expand into other countries such as Benin, Togo, Ivory Coast, Liberia and the Gambia. Our presence in 
the ECOWAS market is currently limited to pharmaceutical business with key products like Ciklavit, and 
NCP already registered.

SALES DISTRIBUTION
80 % of our products are distributed by World Wide Commercial Ventures Ltd. (WWCVL) also known 
as World Wide Healthcare Ltd with support from our Field Force whilst 20% are distributed by our Field 
Force.  We have depots located in Lagos, Abuja, Ibadan, Onitsha, and Aba. These depots serve as our 
contact offices in these areas. Currently we have about 65 salesmen that cover all the 36 states of Nigeria. 
We also have key distributors and wholesalers who represent our interests in areas where our depots are 
absent. Distributors’ names and addresses proximal to any given location can be made available on request 
by the Sales and Marketing Department. (Customer Care No.: 09032543202)

COMMUNITY SERVICE
Community consciousness is one of Neimeth’s core values. To this end, Neimeth as a good corporate 
citizen has from inception till date engaged in various community-based welfare programmes that confirm 
its dedication to community health and wellness. The company has contributed significantly in helping to 
control worm infestation via numerous free de-worming programs and health education.

PYRANTRIN KIDS CLUB (PKC)
One of such health educational strategies is the Pyrantrin Kids Club (PKC). It is a health educational club 
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for children aged 4-13 years. It has been well documented that children serve as the main transmission link 
in worm infestation. Membership is spread across the 36 states of the Federation. It has numerous enviable 
membership benefits like birthday celebrations, scholarships and others. Membership strength is expected 
to grow in the coming years.

HELP
Another health educational strategy is the Helminthiasis Elimination Lower-Cost Partnership (HELP). 
This is Neimeth’s social engineering programme aimed at improving the health, nutrition and welfare of 
Nigerians through the eradication of worm burden in our society.  Like Pyrantrin Kids Club, it is structured 
on chemotherapy, sanitation, hygiene and health education .HELP is a mass de-worming partnership 
programme with NGOs, Governments, States, Ministries of Women and Social Development Outfits at 
a highly subsidized shared /lower cost.

FITGAH
The next community health educational programme is our “Fight the Good Fight Against Hypertension” 
(FITGAH). This programme enlightens Nigerians on the dangers of hypertension and diabetes and useful 
tips on ways to remedy them. It also offers half the price of hypertensive drug to those diagnosed with the 
health condition. The core of  FITGAH programme is to offer free blood pressure check for people and 
treat identified hypertensive patients.

SMAPEX
Associated with this programme is the Stress Management Programme for Executives (SMAPEX) in 
which we emphasize the need for stress control by busy executives, to minimize the risk of exposure to 
insidious diseases like hypertension, diabetes etc.

RBM
The challenges and threats posed by the endemicity of malaria in our communities in Nigeria are well 
known. The Roll Back Malaria Programme (RBM) has been specially designed to take care of this problem 
considering that malaria is responsible for about 10% of children’s death in hospitals and accounts for high 
mortality rate in pregnant women at an estimated 40%.

SICKLE CELL CLUB
Neimeth’s focus on indigenous research into drugs and medicaments for common African disease ailments 
led to the discovery and launch of Ciklavit, a nutritional supplement for the management of Sickle Cell 
disorder. Consequent upon this, a well-orchestrated public enlightenment /advocacy machinery was 
established by the company to handle Sickle Cell disease related issues. Its activities include collaboration 
to facilitate the setting up of Sickle Cell Clubs in Local Government Areas across Nigeria, facilitating the 
management of these clubs in collaboration with other NGOs, demystification of the disease among rural 
communities as well as counseling of young and single people before marriage.

DRF
Neimeth has also put her technical expertise at the service of State Governments in the area of “Drug 
Revolving Fund (DRF)” management to ensure greater mileage in quality and reach of such state health 
programmes. Some states are beneficiaries of this medicare enhancement programme. The focus and cost 
effectiveness of these enlightenment and advocacy programmes make them most beneficial to the recipients 
and gives the highest visibility to government health programmes at highly subsidized rates.
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RESEARCH & DEVELOPMENT
Neimeth has committed a substantial amount of money to Research and Development (R&D) in the 
recent past.  Our effort in this area is double faceted:  Internal and External.

Our Internal R&D activities include formulation of new products and re-formulation of existing 
products to:

	Enhance efficacy
	Create new therapeutic uses
	Increase sales potentials and profitability 
	Expand usage extensions 

Our External R&D work on the other hand entails working with medical scientists/researchers to 
develop new products, conduct drug clinical trials and in-vitro drug studies. These drugs could be natural, 
and/or chemical (synthetic), oral, or parenteral. To this end, we carry out research, working with our 
indigenous universities based on local raw materials, and focusing on specific disease areas that are 
generally neglected by global/multinational companies. We seek to provide new local health remedies 
in these areas at affordable costs. Our first success in this area is Ciklavit; the first homegrown natural 
product for the effective management of Sickle Cell Disease. Our Mission is to expand and grow the 
exportation of health solutions to other countries while meeting local needs.

MANUFACTURING & CERTIFICATIONS
Neimeth’s manufacturing plant is installed to manufacture a wide range of pharmaceutical and veterinary 
products: tablets, capsules, ointment/creams, oral and consumer liquids, powders, and others in diverse 
packaging presentations.

The manufacturing plant is Good Manufacturing Practice (cGMP) compliant, as it is certified by 
NAFDAC and licensed to manufacture pharmaceuticals by the Pharmacist Council of Nigeria (PCN). 
The Plant is also equipped with in-house water treatment facility with de-ionization and distillation 
capabilities. We make continuous efforts in upgrading our plant and this is evident by our periodic 
restructuring and upgrading of the equipment and machineries to accommodate new opportunities that 
have emerged in form of excess capacity utilization for contract manufacturing, product customization 
and product analysis.

To further expand our manufacturing capabilities, Neimeth has also officially kicked off the construction 
of its Pharmaceutical Complex situated on an area covering 2.56 hectares of land in Anambra State. 

Neimeth’s has her products registered and available in other ECOWAS (Economic Community of West 
African States) countries and is therefore committed to meeting international best practice standards. The 
Company is currently ISO 9001:2015, QMS: 0000296 and ISO 14001:2015, EMS:0000024 certified.

HEALTH, SAFETY & ENVIRONMENT POLICY
In line with our commitment to be the leading Innovative healthcare provider out of Africa, Neimeth 
has ensured that all its operations are conducted in a manner consistent with relevant applicable laws. 
Our Health, Safety & Environment (“HSE”) Policy is just one of the important policies Neimeth has 
adopted in ensuring operational excellence and compliance with international best practice. We are 
therefore mindful that the safety and health of our workforce and protection of our environment are 
important to our success.

We are committed to a process of continuous improvement in all we do and to the adoption of international 
industry standards and codes wherever practical. Our efforts in the areas of HSE are directed by the 
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following key philosophy:

•	 Industrial Accident Prevention: We will strive to make our workplaces free of injuries and accidents 
with100% safe work practices and safe conditions throughout our operations.

•	 Environmental Protection:  We are committed to the protection of the environment and shall apply 
industry best practices as appropriate to minimize the generation of emissions and waste throughout 
our operations.

•	 Risk Assessment: Effective management of risk is fundamental to achieving safe operations. We 
will systematically identify potential hazards, assess their relative significance, develop reduction 
measures and establish suitable controls to ensure that risks are minimized.

•	 Emergency Preparedness: Being properly prepared for an emergency is of vital importance and is 
the responsibility of management, supervisors and employees at a l l  l e ve l s . We wi l l  mainta in 
emergenc y  p lans  in cooperation with local authorities and emergency services groups to ensure 
a prompt, effective and integrated response to minimize harmful effects from any incident.

•	 Regulatory Compliance: We will comply with all applicable laws, regulations, standards and 
recognized codes of practice and, where any of these are inadequate, adopt and apply high standards 
that reflect Neimeth’s commitment to safety, the protection of the natural environment and the 
health of our workforce.

•	 Communication:  We will clearly communicate our health and safety commitments, responsibilities 
and performance to our employees, our contractors and the public.

•	 Training: We will ensure that employees and contractors understand their health and safety 
responsibilities, that they have the right training for their jobs and are competent to perform their 
assignments safely, effectively and efficiently.
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The Directors submit herewith to the members of the Company the statement of the Financial 
Position as at 30th September, 2019 together with the Comprehensive Income statement for the 
year ended on that date.

LEGAL FORM
The Company, Pfizer Products Nigeria was incorporated on 13th of August 1957 as a limited liability 
company.  It was converted to a public limited company in 1991. On 14th May 1997, Pfizer Inc. N.Y. 
divested from the company through a management buy-out.  The company’s name was subsequently 
changed to Neimeth International Pharmaceuticals Plc. by a special resolution. The shares are currently 
quoted on the Nigerian Stock Exchange.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activities of the company are the manufacture and marketing of pharmaceutical, animal 
health products and general health care products.

INTERNAL CONTROL
There exists effective internal control function within the company, which gives reasonable assurance 
against any material misstatement or loss.  The responsibility includes oversight functions of internal audit 
control and system analysis.

RESULTS FOR THE YEAR
                                                                                                     N’000
Profit for the year before taxation                          304,439	  
Taxation                                                                   84,292 
                                                                             ------------
Profit after taxation                                                220,147

        ========	
				                                                                                                  

DIRECTORS AND THEIR INTERESTS
a	 The name of current Directors are shown on page 5
b	 The Directors retiring by rotation at this Annual General Meeting in accordance

with the company’s Articles of Association are Prof. E. N. Sokomba, Pharm Mrs. R. A Oputa 
and Mrs. B. O. Odunewu who being eligible, offer themselves for re-election. 

c	 The interest of each Director in the share capital of the company are as follows:

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AS AT SEPTEMBER 30th, 2019
S/N DIRECTORS HOLDINGS INDIRECT INTEREST HOLDINGS

1 DR. A.B.C. ORJIAKO *******

ORDREC INVESTMENTS LIMITED 217,701,820
HELKO NIG. LTD. 191,913,432

2 MR. CHRISTOPHER U. MMEJE 145,200 ******* *******
3 MAZI SAMUEL.I. OHUABUNWA 132,749,658 MASTA SERVICES COY LTD & 6,146,511

ESI OHUABUNWA & SONS LTD 756,346
4 MR. OMENE GODWIN EYARUBERE 11,413,571 ******* *******
5 PROF. ELIJAH NDAJIYA SOKOMBA 605,000 INTERCEDD HEALTH PRODUCTS LTD 450,842,892
6 PROF. MAURICE MMADUAKOLAM IWU 20,093,687 ******* *******
7 MR. IKECHUKWU TAGBO ONYECHI 29,278,735 ALPHA PHARMACY & STORES LIMITED 72,503,197
8 MR. THOMAS TUNBOSUN OSOBU 81,174,601 ******* *******
9 MRS. ROSELINE A. OPUTA 226,316 ******* *******

10 MRS BASHIRAT O. ODUNEWU ****** ******* *******
11 MR. MATTHEW O. AZOJI ****** ******* *******
12 MRS TEMITAYO O. NELSON ****** ******* *******
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  d.	 Directors Interest in Contract
None of the Directors has notified the company for the purpose of section 277 of the Companies 
and Allied Matters Act Cap C20 LFN 2004 of any declarable interest in contract, in which the 
company is involved as at 30th September, 2019.

  e.       Directors’ Responsibilities
The Directors are responsible for the preparation of financial statements, which give a true and 
fair view of the state of affairs of the company at the end of each financial year, and of the profit 
or loss for that period, and comply with the Companies and Allied Matters Act Cap C20 LFN 
2004.  In doing so, they ensure that:
-	 proper accounting records are maintained
-	 Internal control procedures are instituted which, as far as is reasonably possible, safeguard the 

assets, and prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities
-	 Applicable accounting standards are followed.
-	 Suitable accounting policies are adopted and consistently applied
-	 Judgments and estimates made are reasonable and prudent, and
-	 The going concern basis is used, unless it is inappropriate to presume that the company will 

continue in business.

ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDING					   
Range of Holdings 	       No.of Holders 	      Holders % 	 Holders Cum.     	       Units	                 Units %	        Units 
Cum.	
1     	          -        1,000	        6,559	     21.55		      6,559  		    3,126,946 	 0.16	         3,126,946
1,001    	         -         5,000	      12,483	     41.02	                   19,042		   30,760,604	 1.62               33,887,550
5,001    	         -       10,000	        4,516	     14.84	                	  23,558		   32,224,198	 1.70               66,111,748
10,001   	        -        50,000	        5,260	     17.29	                   28,818                  113,516,751	 5.98             179,628,498
50,001  	        -      100,000    	          810	       2.66	                   29,628                    58,257,043	 3.07             237,885,542
100,001  	       -      500,000	           636 	      2.09                      30,264                  129,930,054	 6.84             367,815,596
500,001  	       -   1,000,000	             82	      0.27	                   30,346                    56,824,203	 2.99             424,639,799
1,000,001       -   5,000,000	             59                     0.19		    30,405	                117,530,075	 6.19             542,169,874
5,000,001       - 10,000,000	             12                    0.04		    30,417		   81,888,847	 4.31             624,058,721 
10,000,001     - 50,000,000	               7	     0.02		    30,424	                128,246,181	 6.75             752,304,902
50,000,001    -     ABOVE   	               6	     0.02	                   30,430 	             1,146,852,205           60.39          1,899,157,107

GRAND Total     =              	        30,430                    100.00                                                            1,899,157,107              100.00

SUBSTANTIAL INTEREST IN SHARES
According to the Register of Members, the following shareholders of the Company held more  than 5% 
of the Issued Share Capital of the Company as at 30th September, 2019.

S/N NAMES OF SHAREHOLDERS UNITS PERCENTAGE (%)
1 OHUABUNWA S. IHEANYICHUKWU 132,749,658 6.99%
2 HELKO NIGERIA LIMITED 191,913,432 10.11%
3 ORDREC INVESTMENTS LIMITED 217,701,820 11.46%
4 INTERCEDD HEALTH PRODUCTS LTD 450,842,893 23.74%
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VALUE OF ASSETS
Particulars of the changes arising from additions and disposals of Property, Plant and Equipment during 
the year are contained in Note 16. Details of other assets of the Company as at 30th September 2019 are 
given in Notes 17 to 21.2 of the Statement of Financial Position.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY (CSR)
The purpose of CSR is to drive sustainability and a business approach that contributes to sustainable 
development by delivering economic, social and environmental benefits for all stakeholders. Our CSR 
activities provide qualitative enlightenment programmes with partnership, support and sponsorship of 
organizations, NGOs and Governments bodies in Nigerian.
Neimeth’s crucial focus is on FITGAH (Fight the Good Fight against Hypertension). Neimeth will not 
stop fighting this dreadful epidemic till everyone is aware of the danger it poses in our society. Neimeth 
will continue to collaborate with organizations, government’s bodies and NGOs to reduce the deaths 
occasioned by Hypertension in the Society.

The general objective of this initiative apart from creating awareness is to attest that subjects do not go 
on drug holiday but can access their medications without any complication. Neimeth ensures continuity 
and compliance by providing one month free provision of starter drugs (anti-hypertensives) for all isolated 
cases/subjects and partnership collaboration for six months to sustain the subjects.   
Neimeth will continue to sustain her cardiovascular/FITGAH center at Oregun with the provision of 
free medical examination and management of hypertension subjects within her immediate communities. 
During the year under review, total number of 565 persons were examined and placed on Neimeth’s anti-
hypertensive products. No cash donation was made.

COMPANY’S DISTRIBUTORS
An exclusive distribution agreement was entered into in April 2015 with World Wide Commercial 
Ventures Limited (WWCVL) for the distribution of about 75% of Neimeth Major Brands.
The names of other Distributors during the period are as follows:

Iykmavian Pharmacy Ltd, Lagos		
Santus Pharmacy, Lagos                	 Ramsgate Pharm. Ota
Spine Products Ltd, Lagos                       Goodall Pharmacy Ltd, Ibadan
New Height Pharm, Lagos	           	 Latnas Pharmacy, Kano
Sinko Pharmacy, Ota			   Tony Pharmacy, Kano
Canez Pharmarcy, Onitsha                	 Skylark Pharmacy, Abuja
Eco Blessed Pharm Ltd Onitsha             H-Medix Pharmacy, Abuja                             
Prodave Pharmacy Ltd, Onitsha              Dilimi Pharmacy, Jos                         
Fiolu Pharm, Ilorin                                  Danny Faith Pharmacy, Lagos
Royal Michael Pharm, Benin	              Jay Moore Pharmacy, Aba
New Health Pharmacy Ltd, Abuja	 Klen Pharmacy, Abuja			 
Lamed Pharmacy, Jos			   Eben Pharmacy, Akure			 
						      Warmeck Pharmacy, Aba
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SUPPLIERS

The company’s significant suppliers are:
Shongai Technologies Limited 
Saga Overseas Limited
Drug & Healthcare Limited    
Long Range Europe Limited
Real Value Trust Limited
Afkar Printing and Publishing Company Limited
Maple Plastic Ltd
Toppan Printing Company Nig. Limited
Beta Gloss Plc
Abtevic Pharm Limited
Patolek Nigeria Limited
De-Daltex Nigeria Ent. Limited
Ls Scientific Limited
Loveleen Toys Ind. Limited
Omnik Limited
Meridian Western Limited
Eunisell Limited
Modupe Trading Co. Limited
Lagra and Associates
Long Range Ultimate Nig. Ltd
Abtevic Pharmaceuticals Ltd
The company is not associated with local suppliers and obtains all its packaging materials at 
arm’s length.

MANUFACTURING AND DISTRIBUTION Agreements
The company is in a manufacturing agreement with Late Professor Ekeke for the manufacture of Ciklavit.  
This attracts a royalty payment of 5% of sales.
Royalty charge during the year amounted to N2,214,970.92 (2018 – N2,553,464.45)

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT
Research and Development ensures the continuity of the company with special focus on increasing the 
company’s product profile, meeting demands of the market and our teeming customers. This is done by 
constantly reviewing and improving on existing product formulations; researching into new product 
formulations and entering into contract agreement with overseas manufacturers.

The company has on-going work on several new products development, product registration processes 
among which are these:

1.	 Metformin Sustained Release Tablets (1000mg & 500mg)		  Antidiabetic drug
2.	 Glimepiride Tablets (4mg & 2mg) 					     Antidiabetic drug
3.	 Aspirin Tablets 75mg (Low dose Aspirin) 				    Adjunct in the treatment of 		

                                                                                                          Cardiovascular Disorders.
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4.	 Atorvastatin Tablets (20mg & 10mg) 				    Antilipidaemic drug
5.	 Ketoconazole Cream 1% w/w 					     Antifungal 
6.	 Ketoconazole + Sulphur Shampoo 					     Anti-dandruff
7.	 Pancemol PM (Paracetamol + Diphenhydramine Hcl) 		  Analgesic
8.	 Clotrimazole + Ichtamol cream 					     Antifungal & nappy rash
9.	 Diclofenac + Paracetamol Tablets 					     Analgesic

Products from overseas manufacturers undergoing registration process with NAFDAC:
i.	 Neimeth Ergometrine injection
ii.	 Becovix Injection ( Vitamin B complex injection)
iii.	 Neimeth Hydrocortisone Injection
iv.	 Neimeth Promethazine Injection
v.	 Neimeth Ciprofloxacin Eye drop
vi.	 Neimeth Gentamicin 80 mg Injection
vii.	 Nimatem QS Soft Gel

Employee Involvement and Training
At Neimeth, we believe very much in employee involvement and participation. Employees are consistently 
involved in creating an environment that would have impact on decisions and actions that affect their jobs. 
We continuously improve our workplace environment by involving our employees as much as possible in 
all aspects of work decisions and planning that would increase ownership and commitment.
Every employee is regarded as unique and his impact is solicited and valued by Management.  Employee 
and Management recognize that each employee is involved in running the business to provide quality 
products and services to our customers, shareholders and the community in which we operate.
Key to most employee involvement processes is team effectiveness, productivity, communication, problem 
solving, development of reward and recognition systems.  In return, employees are treated equitably, fairly 
and with dignity as individuals in a consistent manner.
Our training is structured to meet needs of the employees to make them more effective on the job, change 
their attitude and interest, thereby promoting ownership. In this regard, evaluation of the effectiveness/
impact of the training is undertaken by Head of Departments six months post training in conjunction with 
Human Resource Department.
At Neimeth, we will continue to invest in training and development of employees to make them more 
productive and effective in their jobs, directly contributing to the bottom line.

HEALTH, SAFETY AND WELFARE OF EMPLOYEE
Environmental Management Policy
Neimeth is committed to operating its manufacturing system (production of healthcare and pharmaceutical 
products and support activities) in a safe and environmentally friendly manner. This ensures that the 
environmental impact of our production and related operations is controlled to ensure as little degradation 
as possible to the environment.
Accordingly, we constantly monitor our emission of green-house gases and ensure we reduce our carbon 
footprint through proper and periodic maintenance of our generators, proper servicing of our transport 
vehicles and through an annual corporate environmental objective which includes the planting of between 
two to five trees. Environmental audits are also carried out regularly and statutorily as required by law, at 
the end of which corrective and preventive actions are put in place to forestall any future occurrence.



 
 

492019 Annual Report & Accounts 
NEIMETH INTERNATIONAL
PHARMACEUTICALS PLC

 
 

REPORT OF DIRECTORS

This is achieved through the implementation of ISO 14001: 2015 and the continuous improvement of 
Environmental Management system (EMS) 
Environmental Sustainability
At Neimeth, we make use of a wide range of resources like fuel, water and paper. The usage of these natural 
resources are monitored and measured and operational controls put in place to avoid wastages thereby 
promoting sustainability of these natural resources. In the case of water usage, this is achieved through the 
metering of the portable and de-ionized water lines and conducting regular leak audits which are quickly 
addressed. In 2018, the percentage water usage was 2.23% while in 2019, it was 2.28%, the marginal 
increase was as result of increased production and in the case of paper usage, sending more memos via 
emails than hard copies and the use of both sides of the paper has reduced the paper used annually thereby 
ensuring sustainable operations. On Energy Usage, a lot of improvement was also recorded.
We have done a lot in the area of waste to landfill management through the introduction of various 
initiatives and as such we have consistently maintained a waste to landfill percentage of 0.5% between 
2018-2019, with continuous improvement on the forefront of our priority burner in subsequent years.
Some of these initiatives employ the three Rs technique of Re-use, Reduce and Recycle, this we have been 
able to achieve through the segregation of our waste as commingling of waste was formerly the order of 
the day. Some of the waste like nylon, paper and waste cartons are sold to middle men which becomes raw 
material for some other companies thereby converting waste to wealth. Some of the production waste from 
the natural products are sold to pig farmers and used as feed for the pigs.
The Extended Producer Responsibility (EPR) is our target whereby we will be responsible for the waste 
generated by the last item on our production process. 

Health & Safety
At Neimeth, we are committed to conducting our manufacturing processes in a safe and accident free 
environment for all employees, contractors and visitors.
We have built a safety culture in our personnel through regular trainings, teaching them that their safety 
is in their hands and that safety is everybody’s responsibility and not only a function of the management.
The Management has on its own part made tremendous strides towards the provision of various controls 
both engineering and administrative and has also made adequate provision of PPEs (Personal Protective 
Equipment) for employees. The target is to have a zero accident environment where the employees come 
to work safe and go back same. Visual aids in the form of safety signs have been made in the simplest 
forms and language so that even the unlettered can decipher them.  Employees are encouraged to report 
near misses and accident investigations are carried out accordingly and CAPA (Corrective and Preventive 
Actions) are put in place. This giant stride is a huge improvement from 2018.

In 2018, 1 Lost Time Accident was recorded for a Full Time Staff, while in 2019, 1 Lost Time accident 
was also recorded. Our target is Zero accidents. Management has embraced safety, such that a week- long 
activity was introduced in 2018 where various safety trainings were given to personnel, as well as first aid 
training. 

Neimeth HIV/AIDS Policy
Neimeth has adopted a policy with a commitment to prevent the spread of HIV/AIDS in our workplaces 
and to care for the personnel and their dependents who suffer from its effects.
To guide Neimeth Management in addressing the challenges of managing HIV/AIDS in the work place, 
this policy therefore seeks: 

•	 To create programs in conjunction with other appropriate agencies to prevent the scourge of this 
disease which include education and awareness program.
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•	 To guide managers, supervisors and workers on the best practice in ensuring harmonious work 
relationship between employee(s) with HIV/AIDS and other employees. 

•	 To emphasize on the level of reasonable accommodation the company can provide employees with 
life threatening illness that would not be detrimental to the smooth operation of the company’s 
business, and 

•	 Promote confidentiality and non-discrimination towards employees with HIV/AIDS thereby 
promoting appropriate and effective ways of managing HIV/AIDS in the workplace.

•	 Avoid stigmatization meted out to employees living with HIV/AIDS through ensuring that their 
status is kept confidential.

POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS
There were no other significant post balance sheet events, which could have had material effect on the 
state of affairs of the company for the period ended 30th September, 2019 which had not been adequately 
provided for or disclosed.

Auditors
Messrs. PKF Professional Services has indicated their willingness to continue in office as the company’s 
auditor in accordance with section 357(2) of the Companies and Allied Matters Act CAP C20 LFN 2004.  
A resolution will be proposed authorizing the Directors to determine their remuneration. 

By Order of the Board.

Mrs. F. I. Onyenekwe (FRC/ICAN/00000010082)
Company Secretary
Lagos, Nigeria
20th December, 2019
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2019 PEARL AWARDS
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CLOSING GONG CEREMONY AT 
THE NIGERIA STOCK EXCHANGE

EVENTS AND AWARDS
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Neimeth Board and Management 
5-Year Strategic Planing Meeting
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BUSINESS DAY
TOP 25 CEOS 

AWARDS 2019
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPHRENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2019
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2019
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  STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2019
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2019
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The Registrar
Meristrem Reigstrars and Probate
Services Limited
213, Herbert Maculay Way,
Adekunle, Yaba, Lagos.
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